#### Wilfrid Laurier University

### Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2013

# The influence of calcium and dissolved organic matter on the acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to Hyalella azteca

Katherine Chan chan8920@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

Chan, Katherine, "The influence of calcium and dissolved organic matter on the acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to Hyalella azteca" (2013). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 1614. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1614

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

### The influence of calcium and dissolved organic matter on the acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to *Hyalella azteca*

by

#### **Katherine Chan**

HBSc Biology, University of Toronto at Mississauga, 2010

#### THESIS

Submitted to the Department of Biology

Faculty of Science

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science in Integrative Biology

Wilfrid Laurier University

Katherine Chan 2013 ©

### Abstract

This study focuses on the effect of Ca and dissolved organic matter (DOM) on Ni toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* in soft waters (interpreted in the context of the biotic ligand model (BLM)) and is linked to a larger project directed at understanding the recovery of aquatic systems from long term smelter damage. Amphipods (source: Hannah Lake, Sudbury ON) were cultured and tested in soft waters (12 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L, pH 7.0, 21°C) following Environment Canada standard method EPS 1/RM/33 (Environment Canada, 1997). Effects of Ca, but not Mg, were observed where a 5-fold increase in protection was a result of an increase of Ca concentrations from 0.1 to 2.0 mM. DOM was collected from sites previously impacted and recovering from long term smelter emissions and also from reference sites in central Ontario. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations at 6 mg/L and higher offered protection against Ni toxicity. Acute toxicity tests with different DOM sources (at 6 mg DOC/L) showed variation in protective capacity but no clear links to measured optical characteristics were observed. DOM sources also reduced short term (6h) whole body accumulation of Ni but there was no correlation between the capacity of DOM to reduce accumulation and its ability to mitigate toxicity. Application of the BLM illustrated that acute toxicity could be modelled reasonably well except for some effects of Ca (2.0mM). Chronic (28d) effects on Hyalella occurred at much lower Ni concentrations (acute to chronic ratio of approximately 50) and the protective effects of Ca and DOM were proportionally similar. For example, 1mM Ca increased the chronic  $LC_{50}$  by 3-fold. Growth (assessed as dry weight) was generally a more sensitive indicator of impacts than survival. In exposures without modifying factors, the EC<sub>20</sub> and EC<sub>50</sub> for growth were 1.4 and 12.7  $\mu$ g Ni/L, respectively, while the LC<sub>50</sub> was 13.8 (CI: 11.5 - 16.7) µg Ni/L. Contrary to other studies, this research did not show

relationships between DOM quality and toxicity mitigation and this demonstrates the need for an improved understanding of DOM characteristics in relation to the potential impact of Ni.

### Acknowledgements

I first and foremost would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Dr. James McGeer, for giving me this opportunity of researching in his lab. The experiences I've had as well as the knowledge I've gained will remain unsurpassed. His support, guidance and wisdom have led to many life lessons, and for that, I am grateful.

Secondly, I would like to thank Kelly Livingstone and Christine Geiger for personally sharing their results for optical characteristics of DOM presented in Chapter 2. I would also like to thank the members of the McGeer lab especially Tony Straus and Emily-Jane Costa for their help in culture and DOM collections as well as maintenance throughout the years. Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Hassan Ali Al-Reasi from McMaster University in Hamilton, ON for taking the time to train me on the TOC analyzer and allowing me to use the machine for my acute exposures. Dr. Norman Yan, the FLAMES lab in Dorset, ON (especially Christine Geiger) in relation with the MOE for allowing me to gain experience at their facility for a summer during my studies and for all their help and guidance throughout the years. I would also like to thank all the members involved with the TALER project for their guidance and support, especially Dr. John Gunn and his lab from Laurentian University in Sudbury, ON for guidance on where to collect DOM as well as organism collections and also Dr. David Kreutzweiser and his lab for their help in DOM collections in White River, ON. I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee for their time and support.

Futhermore, I would like to thank all my friends for keeping me sane and fed throughout this whole experience. Lastly, I would like to thank my family, particularly my Mom and Dad for their constant love and support.

iv

### **Authors declaration**

This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners. I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public. I authorize Wilfrid Laurier University to lend or reproduce this thesis by photocopying, or by other means (in total or in part), at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

This research was funded by the TALER (Terrestrial Aquatic Linkages for Ecosystem Recovery) Research Program with support from NSERC, Vale, Xstrata plc. and the City of Sudbury.

Katherine Chan

# Glossary

BLM biotic ligand model
CETIScomprehensive environmental toxicity information system
CIconfidence interval
DOCdissolved organic carbon
DOM dissolved organic matter
EC20concentration associated with a 20% effect
EC50concentration associated with a 50% effect
EEMSexcitation emission matrix spectroscopy
FAfulvic acid
FI fluorescence index
HAhumic acid
LA50accumulation associated with 50% lethality
LC50concentration associated with 50% lethality
PARAFAC parallel factor analysis
SAC specific absorbance coefficient
SDstandard deviation
SEM standard error of mean
TALER Terrestrial Aquatic Linkages for Ecosystem Recovery
UVultraviolet
WHAM Windermere humic aqueous model

# **List of Figures**

<b>Figure 2.1</b> : Map of DOM collection sites
<b>Figure 2.2</b> : Protective effects of Ca and DOM quantity on acute Ni toxicity43
<b>Figure 2.3:</b> Protective effects of DOM source quality on acute Ni toxicity44
Figure 2.4: Effects of DOM on Ni bioaccumulation at 6h
<b>Figure 2.5</b> : Optical characteristics and their influence on acute Ni toxicity46
Figure 3.1: Protective effects of modifying factors on the chronic toxicity of Ni to
Hyalella: survival over 10 and 28 d
Figure 3.2: Influence of modifying factors on dry weight of <i>Hyalella</i> after 28 days
of exposure to Ni
Figure 3.3: Protective effects of modifying factors on the chronic toxicity of Ni to
Hyalella: EC20s and EC50s for growth
Figure 3.4: Effects of modifying factors on whole body Ni bioaccumulation after
28 d of exposure to Ni

## **List of Tables**

Table 2.1: DOM source information for acute exposures	40
Table 2.2: Water chemistry for all acute series	41
Table 3.1: Water chemistry for all chronic series	70
<b>Table 3.2</b> : Dry weights and survival data all chronic series	71
<b>Table 3.3</b> : Comparison of initial and final chronic Ni concentrations	74

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
AUTHORS DECLARATION	v
GLOSSARY	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Ηγαι εί μα αστέςα	2
1.2 NICKEL	
1.2.1 Impacts of Ni on the environment	3
1.2.1 Toxicity of Ni, the influence of geochemistry, and indicators of toxicity	4
1.2.2 Effects of water chemistry on Ni speciation	6
1.2.3 Development of the Biotic Ligand Model	7
1.3 NATURAL DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER	
1.3.1 Toxicity mitigating abilities of different DOM sources	
1.3.2 Characterization of DOM sources	
1.4 OBJECTIVES	13
CHAPTER 2 FACTORS MODIFYING ACUTE NI TOXICITY	
	10
	10
2.2 I Invertebrate cultures	
2.2.1 Inverteblute cultures	
2.2.2 DOM collection site descriptions	
2.2.5 Natural DOW concernor and preparation	21
2.2.4 Exposure conditions	22
2.2.5 W blocconnulation	24 24
2.2.0 Sampling and algestion - water and organisms	24
2.2.7 Sumple sharps blocecumation and water sumples immediately and a sumple imm	26
2 2 9 Calculations and statistical analysis	27
2.2.10 Modelling	
2.3 RESULTS	
2.3.1 Water chemistry	
2.3.2 Ni toxicity	
2.3.3 Cationic competition on acute Ni toxicity	
2.3.4 DOM complexation on acute Ni toxicity	
2.3.5 Bioaccumulation	
2.3.6 Optical characteristics	
2.3.7 Modelling	

CHAPTER 3	INFLUENCE OF CA AND DOM ON CHRONIC RESPONSES TO NI	
3.1 INTROD	UCTION	49
3.2 MATERI	ALS AND METHODS	
3.2.1 In	vertebrate cultures	
3.2.2 N	atural DOM collection and preparation	53
3.2.3 Ex	cosure conditions	54
3.2.4 N	i bioaccumulation	54
3.2.5 Sc	ampling and digestion	55
3.2.6 Sc	ample analysis	
3.2.7 0	ptical characterization	56
3.2.8 C	alculations and statistical analysis	58
3.3 RESULTS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
3.3.1 N	/ater chemistry	58
3.3.2 St	ırvival	60
3.3.3 G	rowth effects and changes in dry weight	60
3.3.4 Bi	oaccumulation	61
3.3.5 O	ptical characteristics	62
3.4 Discuss	5ION	63
3.5 CONCLU	ISION	82
CHAPTER 4 I	NTEGRATIVE BIOLOGY	
4.1 GENERA	L CONCLUSIONS	84
4.1.1 N	lajor findings in acute and chronic studies	
4.1.2 C	omparison of acute and chronic exposures	
4.2 INTEGRA	ATIVE ASPECTS AND SIGNIFICANCE	87
	EFERENCES	

# **Chapter 1** Introduction

#### 1.1 Hyalella azteca

*Hyalella azteca* is an omnivorous and benthic amphipod (class Crustacea) (Pennak, 1953). They can be identified by several distinct features including two sets of anterior antennae where the inner set lacks an accessory flagellum and are shorter than the outer set as well as, the presence of teeth (spines) on the abdominal pleon (segments 1 and 2; Environment Canada, 1997). Males are usually larger than females and reach a length of 8mm and 6mm (respectively) as adults (Environment Canada, 1997). *Hyalella* are broadly distributed throughout shallow fresh-water lakes in the Americas (Othman and Pascoe, 2001; Gonzalez and Watling, 2002). They occur in a wide variety of environment Canada, 1997) and tend to be more abundant in waters that have summer surface temperatures of  $\geq 10$  °C (Environment Canada, 1997). They occupy the lower end of the food chain in littoral zones often depending on vegetation for cover (i.e., protection; Environment Canada, 1997). As omnivores, their diet consists of a variety of food sources such as bacteria, algae and detritus (Hargrave, 1970).

The lifecycle of *Hyalella* occurs across nine or more instars (i.e., molting periods) which usually spans over a period of 1 year (Pennak, 1953). The first five instars form the juvenile period and reproduction first occurs during the start of the adult period (i.e., eighth instar; within about 15 days; Pennak, 1953). Generation time will vary according to environmental conditions but under standard culturing conditions in the lab (pH 7, 20°C), it is approximately 33 days (Environment Canada, 1997). *Hyalella* reproduce sexually (Strong, 1972) where males actively search for and mate with females and attach themselves to females for periods of time that range from hours to days (Othman and Pascoe, 2001). Fertilization and development of eggs occur in the marsupium (brood pouch) and under ideal conditions, about 18 offspring can be produced per

brood and 15 broods over a 152 day period (Pennak, 1953). *Hyalella* adapt well to laboratory cultures, they are resilient and reliably produce viable offspring over the course of their life.

The lifecycle characteristics and ease of culture of *Hyalella* make them good candidates for toxicity testing in the context of environmental risk assessment. As well, they are sensitive to a variety of aquatic contaminants particularly metals (Blockwell et al., 1999; Borgmann, 1998; Environment Canada, 1997; Ingersoll et al., 1998; Nebeker & Miller, 1988). The suitability of Hyalella for assessing environmental risks is reflected by the development of standard culture and testing methods. Both Environment Canada and the Environmental Protection Agency have developed standardized methods (EPS 1/RM/33, Environment Canada, 1997; EPA 440/5-85-001, US-EPA, 1986). The standard methods according to Environment Canada (1997) are recommended for performing sediment toxicity testing although alterations can be made for water exposures. Environment Canada (1997) guidelines include: static cultures with weekly water renewals, 96 h acute exposures, 28 day chronic exposures, and the use of 2 - 9 day old Hyalella for initiating tests. The guidelines account for the lifecycle, reproduction, and feeding habits of Hyalella which are different than other standard invertebrate test species such as Daphnia. Understanding the potential impacts for contaminants to aquatic biota using Hyalella is therefore possible using toxicity tests following standard methods.

#### 1.2 Nickel

#### 1.2.1 Impacts of Ni on the environment

Nickel is a naturally occurring element in the environment where concentrations can range from 10 to 1000  $\mu$ g/L in waters (uncontaminated and contaminated respectively; Eisler,

1998). Elevated levels of Ni in aquatic environments can be a result of aerial and effluent emissions associated with mining and smelting operations that have occurred or are occurring in the area, for example, the Sudbury region of central Ontario (Keller, 1992). In the Sudbury area increased concentrations of metals and high acidity have impacted aquatic biota since the turn of the twentieth century (Keller et al., 2007). Sudbury lakes have been severely impacted but as a result of reduced smelter emissions (Keller et al., 1992) and pollution control (Keller et al., 2007), water quality has significantly improved. In spite of these improvements, the recovery of zooplankton diversity is problematic in some lakes and Ni has been suggested to be a limiting factor in this recovery (Yan et al., 1996; Keller et al., 2007)

#### 1.2.1 Toxicity of Ni, the influence of geochemistry, and indicators of toxicity

The impacts of Ni are not as well studied as other metals (e.g. Cu or Zn) however there is a reasonable understanding of acute toxicity, factors that modify its toxicity and the physiological mechanisms of uptake. Ni has been linked to the disruption of Mg balance in invertebrate species such as *Daphnia magna* (Pane et al., 2003a) while it impacts respiratory functions in fish (Pane et al., 2004), resulting in impaired gas exchange at the gill (Pane et al., 2003a). In acute exposures, LC<sub>50</sub> values in relatively hard waters ranged from 3.1 mg Ni/L for *Hyalella azteca* (Keithly et al., 2004) to 15.3 mg Ni/L for rainbow trout (Pane et al., 2003b). An acute toxic effect caused by Ni, in relatively soft water (30 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L), was observed at a LC<sub>50</sub> value of 15.9  $\mu$ M (0.93 mg Ni/L) with *Daphnia pulex* (Kozlova et al, 2009). In the Kozlova et al. (2009) study a reduction of Ni toxicity occurred in the presence of Ca (tested concentrations ranged from 0.02 to 1.25mM), Mg (0.01 to 1.44 mM) and DOM (0.5 to 41 mg C/L). For Ca, Mg and DOM, LC<sub>50</sub> values increased by 18-fold, 2.3-fold and 3-fold respectively. Therefore Ca provided greater protection against Ni toxicity than Mg and DOM.

Ni is a metal that can cause acute as well as chronic toxic effects (Kozlova et al., 2009; Schroeder et al., 2010; Keithly et al., 2004). Fourteen day LC<sub>50</sub> values ranged from 25.1 to >118  $\mu$ g Ni/L for various invertebrates in hard water (Deleebeeck et al., 2007). In particular, chronic exposures with *Hyalella azteca* resulted in a 14-d EC<sub>20</sub> growth effect of 61  $\mu$ g Ni/L (Keithly et al., 2004) and a 7-d LC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.3  $\mu$ M Ni/L (17.61  $\mu$ g Ni/L) (Schroeder et al., 2010). In the study by Schroeder et al. (2010), toxicity impacts of Ni are reduced in the presence of Ca (10 to 130 mM) and Mg (7.2 to 47 mM) where LC<sub>50</sub> values increased 8.5-fold and 6.7-fold respectively. In the chronic study by Schroeder et al. (2010), both Ca and Mg protected against Ni toxicity although Ca offered more protection than Mg, which was also demonstrated in the acute studies of Kozlova et al. (2009).

Metal toxicity is influenced by water chemistry (Richards et al., 2001; Kozlova et al., 2009; Clifford and McGeer, 2008) where the competition of  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  with  $Ni^{2+}$  as well as complexation with DOM provide protective effects. Ca and Mg content are often expressed in terms of water hardness, defined as the concentration of multivalent cations and expressed in units of mg/L (weight/volume) or parts per million (ppm) of calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>). Generally, concentrations of the two most prevalent cations (i.e., calcium and magnesium) determine hardness although other cations (i.e., sodium and potassium) are present and may interact with Ni in a different manner that influences bioavailability. Waterborne  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  compete with Ni<sup>2+</sup> for uptake on the biotic ligand therefore reducing toxic effects (Kozlova et al., 2009; Schroeder et al., 2010). DOM reduces toxicity because it binds free ions (Ni<sup>2+</sup>) thus reducing overall Ni bioavailability (Schroeder et al., 2010). This complexation results in an

inverse relationship between DOM concentration and Ni toxicity (i.e., concentration dependent mitigation of toxicity). Studies suggest that different sources of DOM have different metalbinding capabilities and therefore vary in their capacity to protect against metals (Richards et al., 2001; Kozlova et al., 2009).

The effects of water chemistry on metal toxicity can be quantified by endpoints such as survival, growth, and reproduction, but there has been interest in using bioaccumulation as an indicator of toxicity as well. In theory, bioaccumulation accounts for differences in exposure bioavailability and uptake and thus potentially could be a good indicator of toxicity (Borgmann et al., 2001). However, other studies have demonstrated clearly that whole body metal bioaccumulation cannot be linked to chronic impacts (McGeer et al., 2003; Adams et al., 2010). Linking metal accumulation to observed toxic effects in chronic exposures is difficult since some organisms have the ability to eliminate, store or detoxify metals through metallothionein or metallothionein-like proteins (Adams et al., 2010). Not all accumulated metal will be associated with toxicity and much of it may be in detoxified forms. When measuring bioaccumulation, especially on a whole body basis, all of these different forms are measured together. To date it has not been possible to definitely measure the fraction of bioaccumulated metal associated with toxicity.

#### 1.2.2 Effects of water chemistry on Ni speciation

Ni in solution can occur in a variety of different forms (known as species). For example, in the culture medium that was used for *Hyalella* (0.1mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>0, 0.1mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 0.025mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.005mM KCl, and 0.001mM NaBr), species such as Ni<sup>2+</sup>, NiHCO<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>,

NiOH<sup>+</sup>, NiOH<sub>2</sub>, NiCl<sup>+</sup>, NiSO<sub>4</sub> and NiCO<sub>3</sub> will be present. According to the Windermere Humic Aqueous Model (WHAM, v. 7.0), the main species present in solution are Ni<sup>2+</sup> (88.8%), NiHCO<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> (7.8%), NiSO<sub>4</sub> (0.4%) and NiCO<sub>3</sub> (3.6%). The presence of elevated anion concentrations may also influence Ni species formed in solution. In general, the free ion form  $(Ni^{2+})$  is considered to be the most available and most toxic (Pagenkopf, 1983).

Different water chemistries will result in different speciation profiles and these have been linked to bioavilability and toxicity. The addition of anions such as chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>), bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and sulfate (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) may alter Ni<sup>2+</sup> concentrations and therefore possibly affect the degree of toxic impacts (Kozlova et al., 2009). For example, daphnids exposed to enriched bicarbonate (150-250 mg/L) were extremely sensitive to Ni where LC<sub>50</sub> values decreased from 6.7 to 3.4 µg Ni/L (Puttaswamy and Liber, 2012) suggesting that Ni-carbonate species may induce toxic effects. On the contrary, no significant protective effects on Ni toxicity to daphnids occurred with increased levels of chloride and sulfate since LC<sub>50</sub>s were similar between groups (Puttaswamy and Liber, 2012). This observation was also demonstrated other studies where chloride showed no effect on acute Ni toxicity (Kozlova et al., 2009) and the addition of Ni did not disturb Cl<sup>-</sup> balance (Pane et al., 2003a).

#### 1.2.3 Development of the Biotic Ligand Model

The biotic ligand model (BLM) is used as a tool to calculate metal speciation and predict site-specific toxicity in aquatic systems (Keithly et al., 2004; Kozlova et al., 2009; Clifford and McGeer, 2010). It accounts for the metal concentration as well as cations, anions and species of metal in solution giving estimates of metal bioavailability based on the physiological

mechanisms of toxicity (Keithly et al., 2004; Kozlova et al., 2009; Clifford and McGeer, 2010). The model can be used to characterize accumulation from a specific exposure but it is important to note that the model oversimplifies the complex interactions associated with metal uptake and accumulation (McGeer et al., 2010). The BLM modelling approach has been used in the deriviation of water quality criteria.

The BLM model predicts interactions at the site of uptake and the degree of toxic impact (McGeer et al., 2010). The site of uptake for *Hyalella* is unknown. Through the consideration of biological aspects of the organism, it can be speculated that the site of uptake (and even toxic action) may be the gill. Although the actual sites of uptake and toxic impact cannot be defined in *Hyalella azteca*, the BLM is still able to assess and predict metal to binding site (i.e., biotic ligand) interactions and these can be correlated to the measured toxic effects. As such the biotic ligand is a virtual entity and modelled endpoint although its origins are based on measurements of accumulation effect relationships in fish (Di Toro et al., 2001).

The free metal ion can cause detrimental effects (Pagenkopf, 1983) as a result of metal interactions (e.g., binding) at the site of toxicity (e.g., biotic ligand). The BLM is conceptually based on toxicity and it's relation to the metal concentration in solution, competition between cations and free metal ions at the biotic ligand, and metal-ligand complexation (Di Toro et al., 2001). It has been demonstrated that toxicity is reduced in the presence of cations (Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) since toxic metal cations (e.g., Ni<sup>2+</sup>) compete with other dissolved cations for uptake (Kozlova et al., 2009). For example, Kozlova et al. (2009) found a significant decrease in Ni toxicity with increased concentrations of calcium and magnesium. Complexation of free metal ions, such as Ni<sup>2+</sup>, to DOM significantly reduces toxic effects (Kozlova et al., 2009). Furthermore, the concentration of metal affects the ratio between bioavailable and complexed

forms of the metal, and therefore influences the potential for toxicity.

The BLM was initially developed around Cu, Cd, Zn (Di Toro et al., 2001), Ag (McGeer et al., 2000) on its effect of metal to aquatic biota, and has recently been extended to the effects of Ni (Mever et al., 1999; Keithly et al., 2004; Deleebeeck et al., 2007; Kozlova et al., 2009). The principles of the BLM were initially demonstrated to be applicable to Ni through studies performed by Meyer et al. (1999) with fathead minnow. A BLM was developed by Deleebeeck et al. (2007) to predict the toxic effects of Ni with different degrees of water hardness for various invertebrates (e.g., Ceriodaphnia quadrangula, Daphnia longispina, and Ceriodaphnia pulchella). The research by Deleebeeck et al. (2007) demonstrated that the protective effects caused by water hardness need to be incorporated into the bioavilability model for Ni. Another BLM (Kozlova et al., 2009) was developed to predict the toxicity of free Ni<sup>2+</sup> on *Daphnia pulex* with experiments involving different water chemistries where concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ ,  $K^+$ , Na<sup>+</sup>, pH and DOM were varied. This model can be adjusted to match the observed effect of Ni on Hyalella by changing modeling parameters (critical value (i.e., LA<sub>50</sub> value) or logK values) to find a model of 'best fit' for this study. Although the BLM is mainly used as a tool to predict acute metal toxicity, this approach has been successfully extended to the chronic toxicity of Ni on Hyalella by Schroeder et al. (2010). Adjustments to the Kozlova et al. (2009) model may lead to a better understanding of the interactions between toxicity modifying factors and Ni for *Hyalella* in soft waters.

#### 1.3 Natural dissolved organic matter

#### 1.3.1 Toxicity mitigating abilities of different DOM sources

DOM protects against metal toxicity in a concentration dependent manner (typically assessed based on dissolved organic carbon (DOC) content). There is also evidence that the composition of each DOM source can be related to the quality of DOM. For example, the relative humic acid (HA) and fulvic acid (FA) composition may vary among DOM sources (Morel and Hering, 1993). Composition differences may result in different metal binding characteristics and therefore potentially affecting the protective capacity for metal toxicity (Richards et al., 2001). Different sources of DOM (Suwannee River DOM and Nordic Reservoir DOM) demonstrated different protective effects at 15 mg DOC/L (EC<sub>50</sub> values of 50  $\mu$ M (2.9 mg Ni/L) and 90  $\mu$ M (5.2 mg Ni/L) respectively) (Kozlova et al., 2009). The differences in toxicity mitigation have been correlated to optical characteristics (absorbance and fluorescence measurements) of DOMs as shown with Cu (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2004; Ryan et al., 2004). Relationships between DOM optical characteristics and protection against Ni<sup>2+</sup> toxicity have not been studied.

#### 1.3.2 Characterization of DOM sources

DOM consists of decomposed organic molecules from different origins (plant and animal matter) found within aquatic systems as well as terrestrial surroundings (McKnight et al., 1983; Morel and Hering, 1993). These organic compounds are complex and heterogeneous due to their formation from various precursors (McKnight and Aiken, 1998) and typically consist of carbon (45-55%), oxygen (35-45%), hydrogen (3-5%), and nitrogen (1-4%). DOM concentration is

typically measured as DOC. Concentrations in natural waters range from 0.1 to 200 mg DOC/L (Kinniburgh et al., 1996). DOM is important to the aquatic ecosystem since it provides a source of carbon and nutrients at the base of the food web (Wetzel, 2001).

Due to the complexity of the compounds, DOMs are categorized by source type: allochthonous and autochthonous. Allochthonous sources are organic materials of terrestrial origin that are exported from land into the aquatic system. Composition varies with the characteristics of the catchment (e.g., area, cover, and types of vegetation, etc., Schiff et al., 1990). Autochthonous DOM is produced within aquatic systems and are a result primarily from the decomposition of algae and plant matter. These DOMs usually contain more carbohydrates and nitrogen-containing groups and are lightly colored (Richards et al., 2001) compared to allochthonous sources which are enriched with humic substances (HA and FA) and are highly colored (Buffle, 1988). Lakes typically contain a mixture of allochthonous and autochthonous materials, therefore giving each DOM source unique characteristics.

Humic substances are usually the main component of DOM, typically between 50% and 90% (Thurman, 1985). The term humic substances is used to describe the HA and FA content within organic matter. The proportion of HA affects metal speciation since free metal ions complex to this compound (Buffle, 1988). Protective effects against metals may be different between sources due to varying amounts of HA within each source of DOM. Characterizing DOM usually consists of determining the proportions of HA and FA and therefore differences between sources can be distinguished (Buffle, 1988). Understanding the differences between DOM sources through characterization may lead to a better comprehension of the variation in protective effects on toxic metals (Al-Reasi et al., 2012).

Characteristics of DOM sources can be identified by measurements of absorbance and

fluorescence. Absorbance at wavelengths of 254 and 340 nm are commonly used to distinguish differences of DOM since the absorption of light in this range is typically caused by the presence of HA and FA compounds (Abbt-Braun et al., 2004). The specific absorption coefficient measured at 340 nm (SAC<sub>340</sub>) can serve as an indicator of HA within DOM (Curtis and Schindler, 1997; Richards et al., 2001). The amount of HA present in the DOM is related to the color and therefore SAC<sub>340</sub> also serves as a measure of color (light vs. dark DOMs).

Fluorescence excitation-emission matrix spectroscopy (EEMS) can also be used to characterize DOM (Coble, 1996). The fluorescence index (FI) is calculated as a ratio of emission intensities at 450 and 500 nm at an excitation wavelength of 370 nm. These indices are used to distinguish between DOM sources. A higher FI value indicates a more autochthonous DOM while a lower FI represents a source that is more terrestrially derived (McKnight et al., 2001).

Along with FI values, EEMS also creates matrices of data that can be transformed into contour plots (Winter et al., 2007). These contour plots act like a finger print for DOM; each source being unique from the other (Winter et al., 2007). These plots can be interpreted with parallel factor analysis (PARAFAC; Stedmon and Markager, 2005). PARAFAC can identify common components in the DOM samples (Stedmon and Markager, 2005). These components are HA-like, FA-like, tryptophan-like, and tyrosine-like (measured at excitation:emission of 360-390 nm:460-520 nm, 320-340 nm:400-450 nm, 280 and 230 nm:340-350 nm, and 280 and 230 nm:300 nm, respectively) (Winter et al., 2007). For the purposes of this research, HA-like and FA-like components were used to compare differences between DOMs.

#### 1.4 Objectives

The objectives of this research are to understand the role of cations and DOM in Ni toxicity to the freshwater invertebrate *Hyalella azteca*. Understanding the role of these potential protective mechanisms on Ni toxicity will contribute to understanding the processes involved in the recovery of smelter damaged aquatic ecosystems in the Sudbury area. The approach developed in this research occurs in three phases: 1) determining the role of cationic competition (Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) in mitigation of Ni toxicity, 2) deriving relationships between DOM quantity and reduction in toxic impact and 3) understanding the role of DOM source quality in relation to its toxicity mitigating capabilities. Sources for DOM from reference locations (Muskoka, ON), previously smelter impacted lakes (Sudbury, ON), and other impacted sites (logged and burned; White River, ON) are compared.

The hypotheses to be tested in these experiments include:

1.  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  cations compete with Ni<sup>2+</sup> for uptake into *Hyalella* such that:

1a) increased levels of waterborne Ca results in an increase in the  $LC_{50}$  of  $Ni^{2+}$ .

1b) increased levels of waterborne Mg results in an increase in the  $LC_{50}$  of Ni<sup>2+</sup>.

2. DOM complexes with  $Ni^{2+}$  in test solutions in a concentration-dependent-manner but with differences between sources.

2a) as the concentration of DOM increases, Ni bioaccumulation decreases.

2b) when compared at the same DOC concentration different sources of DOM offer different levels of protection against Ni toxicity.

3. Develop a hypothesis around Ni bioaccumulation and toxicity

One of the goals of this research is to integrate the results into existing toxicity-prediction models in order to test/validate cationic competition (between  $Ca^{2+}$  or  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Ni^{2+}$ ) and DOM complexation principles.

# Chapter 2 Factors modifying acute Ni toxicity

#### 2.1 Introduction

Acute toxicity is variable in aquatic environments due to its dependence on organism sensitivity and exposure conditions. Understanding the sensitivity of an organism as well as the speciation of metals that are influenced by water chemistry can lead to a better understanding of acute toxic effects. The development of toxicity prediction models, such as the BLM, are influenced by our knowledge of the toxic abilities of metal species, their bioavailability, and its physiological mechanism for toxic impact (Di Toro et al. 2001; Keithly et al., 2004). The BLM uses these fundamental principles to predict acute toxic effects of metals to specific organisms.

In these studies, *Hyalella azteca* were exposed to various test solutions with increased levels of Ca, Mg and DOM to assess the acute toxic impacts of Ni. These organisms are small freshwater amphipods found in lakes across the Boreal Shield (Othman and Pascoe, 2001) and are used due to their sensitivity to contaminants (Blockwell et al., 1999; Borgmann, 1998; Environment Canada, 1997; Ingersoll et al., 1998; Nebeker & Miller, 1988). Contaminants such as nickel naturally occur in aquatic environments but can be found at elevated concentrations that range from 10 to 1000  $\mu$ g Ni/L (Eisler, 1998). These elevations are generally associated with both aerial (stack) emissions and effluents (e.g., the mining and smelting operations in the Sudbury area; Keller, 1992). Metals (i.e., Ni) have affected the aquatic biota in the Sudbury region since the turn of the twentieth century (Keller et al., 2007) although water quality has improved in the recent years as a result of reduced smelter emissions (Keller et al., 1992) due to pollution control measures (Keller et al., 2007).

Acute Ni toxicity, factors that modify toxicity and physiological mechanisms are reasonably understood although Ni is not as well studied as other metals (eg. Cu or Zn). Elevated

16

levels of Ni cause a disturbance to the balance of Mg in *Daphnia* (Pane et al., 2003a) as well as disrupt the respiratory functions in fish (Pane et al., 2004). A concentration of 15.9  $\mu$ M (0.93 mg Ni/L) caused a toxic effect to *Daphnia pulex* in relatively soft water (30 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L) (Kozlova et al., 2009). Waterborne Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> compete with Ni<sup>2+</sup> for the site of uptake therefore reducing toxicity with an 18-fold and 2.3-fold increase in protection, respectively (Kozlova et al., 2009). A reduction in Ni toxicity did occur (3-fold protective effect) with the addition of DOM (Buffle, 1988; Kozlova et al., 2009). Different sources of DOM have demonstrated various metal-binding abilities and therefore protection can alter depending on DOM source (Richards et al., 2001). Therefore, alterations to water chemistry (i.e., addition of Ca, Mg and DOM) can affect the degree of protection against Ni toxicity.

Protective effects are linked to different indicators of toxicity such as survival, growth, and reproduction. Recently, Borgmann et al. (2001) has suggested the use of bioaccumulation as an indicator of toxicity since it is a more reliable measure of toxic impacts than exposure concentrations in water medium or sediment. Bioaccumulation is reliable and accurate due to the dynamic nature of metal uptake where changes in exposure conditions and duration influence metal accumulation (Adam et al., 2010). Accumulation of metal is associated with a toxic effect (Borgmann et al., 2001), therefore bioaccumulation in these studies should correlate with the degree of toxic impact.

The free metal ion is generally considered to be the most toxic and most bioavailable form of metal in aquatic media (Pagenkopf, 1983). Detrimental effects occur as a result of metal interaction at the site of toxicity (e.g., the biotic ligand). Bioavailability of the metal, and therefore toxicity, is reduced when cations (e.g.,  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ ) compete with Ni<sup>2+</sup> for uptake into the organism assuming that the cations are taken up at the same binding site (Di Toro et al.,

2001). When DOM is present, complexation with Ni<sup>2+</sup> occurs and therefore the metal ion is no longer available for uptake (Di Toro et al., 2001; Richards et al., 2001; Kozlova et al., 2009). The degree of competition and complexation is directly related to the concentrations of these components (i.e., Ni, competing cations, and DOM) (Di Toro et al., 2001). The relationship between the interactions of these factors and toxic effects have been integrated into the BLM for the acute effects of toxicity.

DOMs are composed of organic molecules of different origins found within and around aquatic systems (McKnight et al., 1983; Morel and Herring, 1993) resulting in complex and heterogeneous compounds (McKnight and Aiken, 1998). These carbon compounds are a result of decomposition processes that break down plant and animal matter. The DOM of lakes are therefore a mixture of these materials resulting in a unique set of characteristics for each DOM source. The degree of metal binding capacities are associated with the composition of DOM (Richards et al., 2001). The differences between DOMs can be optically characterized through measurements of absorbance and fluorescence through EEMS and PARAFAC (i.e., SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI, HA-like and FA-like components). DOM binding abilities to Ni may vary if optical characteristics differ between sources. These differences affect the toxicity mitigating abilities of DOM to Ni toxicity (Al-Reasi et al., 2012).

To understand the role of Ca, Mg and DOM on the acute toxicity of Ni to the freshwater invertebrate *Hyalella azteca*, our objectives were to: 1) determine the effect of Ca and Mg on acute Ni toxicity, 2) derive relationships between DOM quantity and toxicity mitigation, and 3) test DOM sources for differences in their capacity to influence the impact of Ni.

18

#### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Invertebrate cultures

Hyalella azteca were collected in August 2010 from Hannah Lake, a previously acid and metal impacted lake near Sudbury, Ontario. Collected organisms were identified as Hvalella azteca according to Pennak (1953). Culture and testing at Wilfrid Laurier University followed Environment Canada standard method EPS1/RM/33 (1997). Groups of 30 adults were cultured in 1L polyethylene beakers with 800mL of an artificial soft water medium (hardness of 12 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L) consisting of: 0.1mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>0, 0.1mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 0.025mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.005mM KCl, and 0.001mM NaBr (all salts from Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) at pH 7.0, temperature of 20 °C  $\pm$  1 °C with a 16h light: 8h dark photoperiod. Br was added to the soft water medium since it is an essential element for the reproduction of Hyalella azteca (Borgmann, 1996). Organisms in each beaker was fed 5 mg of ground up Tetramin <sup>™</sup> flakes (Tetra Werke, Blacksburg, VA, USA) three times a week on non-consecutive days with weekly water renewals (100%). A piece of cheese cloth (5 cm x 5 cm) was placed in each beaker to act as substrate for the amphipods. Neonates were harvested weekly by screening through mesh sizes 650 and 275 µm (for catching adults and neonates, respectively; Environment Canada 1997) and viable organisms were used for testing or maintaining cultures.

#### 2.2.2 DOM collection site descriptions

Twelve sites were chosen for DOM collection and testing in this study (Fig 2.1). These sites include Lake Laurentian, Laurentian wetland, Daisy Lake, White River reference, logged and burned, Clearwater Lake, Harp Lake, HP3 (a stream of Harp Lake), Plastic Lake, PC01 and

P108 (an outflow and inflow of a wetland above Plastic Lake, respectively). The Sudbury lakes (Laurentian, Daisy and Clearwater Lakes) as well as Laurentian Wetland have all been impacted by smelter emissions; the lakes closest to the smelters (Laurentian and Daisy) received a high degree of acidification as well as metal contamination (Keller et al., 2004). Laurentian Lake is a reservoir located southwest of the Copper Cliff smelter. Laurentian Wetland is located above the reservoir and drains into it. Daisy Lake is also southwest of Copper Cliff but in close proximity to the Coniston smelter. Lakes that are close in proximity to these smelter operations have recovered to varying degrees. For example, Daisy Lake has recovered to the point where fish and loon populations have been re-established although not much is known about the recoveries (Keller et al., 2004). Also, Clearwater Lake is further from the smelter operations but was also impacted by smelter emissions and is now much like the pristine lakes in the area (Stokes, 1984).

White River DOM sources were collected from low-order boreal forest watersheds across a gradient of recovery from disturbances. These disturbances include an anthropogenic disturbance (logging, 2002), a natural disturbance (burned, 1999), as well as a site with no recent disturbance (reference). All sites are located within a 20-35 minute drive from the town of White River (along the TransCanada Hwy). The reference site is 35 minutes northwest of town, the burned site is 20 minutes northeast of town and the logged site is 20 minutes southeast of town. Vegetation around the riparian areas of the reference site consist of raspberry spp., alder spp., and red osier dogwood while honeysuckle spp. and blueberry spp. are present in the upland areas of this site. Alder spp., honeysuckle spp., and raspberry spp. are found in the riparian areas of the burned site while upland areas consist of blueberry spp., and white birch (all vegetation data on White River sites provided by David Kreutzweiser (CFS NRCAN), personal communication). The vegetation in both areas (riparian and upland) of these sites contribute to the unique composition of each DOM source. Unfortunately, not much information about the logged site is available since it was a new sampling site but logged sites in the surrounding area mainly consisted of alder spp., raspberry spp., and balsam fir in the riparian areas and honeysuckle spp. and blueberry spp. in the upland areas (David Kreutzwiser (CFS NRCAN), personal communication).

The lakes in the Muskoka region where DOM was collected (Harp Lake and Plastic Lake) are natural lakes that have not been subject to dramatic disturbance such as logging, fire or smelter emission. The selected Muskoka lakes also have relative streams where samples were collected as well. HP3 is a stream that drains into Harp Lake and is known to have a large amount of DOM. Plastic Lake is an oligotrophic lake in south-central Ontario (Watmough et al., 2007) with two associated streams; PC01 and P108. PC01 is the major stream that drains through a wetland before connecting to Plastic Lake (Watmough et al., 2007) and flows all year around in years with more precipitation but has a tendency to dry up during the summer (Eimers et al., 2007). P108 is a short stream that drains from the wetland above Plastic Lake (Watmough et al., 2007). The vegetation in the Plastic lake wetland is made up primarily of white cedar although white pine, eastern hemlock, red maple, striped maple, and black spruce are present as well (Landre et al., 2009).

#### 2.2.3 Natural DOM collection and preparation

DOM was collected from July 2010 to Oct 2011 by reverse osmosis concentration, followed by resination and refrigeration (Schwartz et al., 2004). Water was collected a few meters from shore of the sites and pumped through a  $5\mu$ M filter to remove any particulate debris before transferring the water into the stainless steel portable reverse osmosis unit. The reverse

21

osmosis unit was equipped with XYZABC membranes. Collecting approximately 350 L (200 to 500 L, source dependent) of lake water is reduced to about 8 L of DOM concentrate (ranged from 6 to 10 L). The DOM concentrate was collected in pre-washed 4 L polyethylene containers or 10 L polypropylene containers that were previously rinsed with 0.1% HNO<sub>3</sub>.

During the process of resination, the DOM collected is poured into a stainless steel pot and activated resin (USF C-211 H cation resin, U.S. Filter Corporation, Rockford IL) is added to lower the pH and strip the DOM of any cations or residual metals. To activate resin, 600 mL of 4N HCl (Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) was added to 3.6 L of resin for 5 minutes then rinsed 5 times with deionized water and then another 5 times with MilliQ filtered water ( $18m\Omega.cm$ ; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON). Properly resinated DOM has a stable pH that does not change when more activated resin is added to the solution (usually a pH of 2). These samples were measured for DOC content and then refrigerated and stored at 4°C. Before using DOM in exposures, aliquots of concentrate were adjusted to pH 7.0 by adding 0.1 M NaOH (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON). Appropriate dilutions of DOM concentrate were then done to achieve the desired test concentrations of DOC.

#### 2.2.4 Exposure conditions

Acute toxicity exposures were 96 h, performed in duplicate, with 10 neonates (2 - 9 d of age per replicate), in standardized volumes (200 ml of solution in a 400 mL polyethylene beaker) and organisms were not fed (Environment Canada, 1997). Immobility at 96h was used as the test endpoint. Test solutions were made by adding aliquots of NiCl<sub>2</sub>•6H<sub>2</sub>O (1 g/L stock; Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) to prepared aquatic media resulting in concentrations that range

from 0.25 to 10 mg Ni/L. In each toxicity test, the concentration range was adjusted to achieve 100% survival at the lowest Ni concentration and 100% mortality at the highest Ni concentration. Test solutions were prepared with culture media and adjustments to toxicity modifying factors (Ca concentration, Mg concentration or the addition of DOM) were made and equilibrated for 24 h before initiating tests. The pH, temperature and photoperiod during exposures were similar to the cultures (pH 7.0,  $20 \pm 1$  °C, 16:8 photoperiod). Cheese cloth substrate pieces (5 cm x 5 cm), presoaked with test solution for 24 h in a separate beaker, were placed in each test beaker just prior to adding neonates. At least 5 Ni concentrations were used in each test along with controls (no additional Ni). These controls consist of culture medium only and modified culture medium (addition of Ca, Mg, or DOM). In different toxicity test series, the potential protective effects of Ca, Mg, DOM quantity and DOM quality on acute Ni toxicity were determined. An independent Ni only test (with no modifying factors) was performed for each series to assess the ongoing health and viability of *Hyalella* neonates over time.

An assessment of protective effects caused by waterborne Ca is conducted through the addition of CaCl<sub>2</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>0 (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) to achieve desired Ca concentrations of 0.1, 0.3, 0.75, and 2 mM. The protective effect of Mg was tested by increasing Mg concentration from 0.025 to 0.5 mM through the addition of MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>0 (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON). Effects of DOM (Harp Lake DOM) quantity on Ni toxicity were tested at three concentrations of DOM (3, 6, or 12 mg DOC/L) based on naturally occurring amounts of DOM observed in soft water lakes around central Ontario (David et al., 1997). The effect of DOM quality (source) on Ni toxicity was tested by conducting acute toxicity tests with each source at a nominal concentration of 6 mg DOC/L.

#### 2.2.5 Ni bioaccumulation

To better understand potential linkages to the toxicity modifying influences of DOM, additional volumes of each test concentration were prepared and equilibrated for short term whole body bioaccumulation assessments. Two to nine day old *Hyalella azteca* (n = 6 at each concentration and controls) were exposed to test conditions following protocols for acute exposures in 200 mls of solution. Individual organisms were sampled at 6h. To assess Ni bioaccumulation, a Ni only exposure (no added modifying factors) and six sources of DOM were used: Laurentian Lake, Laurentian wetland, Daisy Lake, and the three sites from White River (reference, burned, and logged).

#### 2.2.6 Sampling and digestion – water and organisms

Water samples (10 ml) were collected before and after exposures to ensure consistency of the solution throughout exposure. Both filtered (0.45 um HT tuffryn, Pall, Ann Arbor, MI) and unfiltered water samples were sampled for dissolved and total (respectively) Ni concentrations. Each sample was taken with a 10 mL disposable syringe (NORM-JECT®, Henke Sass Wolf, Germany) and stored in 20 mL scintillation vials (VWR International, LLC, Mississauga, ON). All samples were acidified to 1% by adding 16N HNO<sub>3</sub> (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON). For toxicity tests with DOM, additional 50 mL samples were taken for DOC analysis. These water samples were filtered (0.45 um HT tuffryn, Pall, Ann Arbor, MI) and the sample tube was filled to minimize head space. Subsequently, they were stored in the dark at 4°C.

*H. azteca* sampled for bioaccumulation were removed from exposures with a disposable pipette, transferred briefly into deionized water, and then blotted on a kimwipe to remove excess moisture. The organisms were then placed in individual 0.6 mL tubes and dried at  $80^{\circ}$ C

(Isotemp500 series, Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) for 48 hrs. Each organism was then weighed to the nearest 0.1  $\mu$ g (SE2 Ultra Micro Balance, Sartorius Mechantronics Corp., Bohemia, NY) and placed back into its individual tube for digestion. The protocol for digestion followed Neumann et al. (1999), beginning with the addition of 25  $\mu$ L of 16N HNO<sub>3</sub> (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON). After 6 days at room temperature, 20  $\mu$ L of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) was added and after 24 hrs, solutions were brought up the final volume of 250  $\mu$ L with the addition of MilliQ water (18m $\Omega$  cm; MilliQ A10 Millipore, Mississauga, ON). This digested sample was then analyzed for Ni content.

#### 2.2.7 Sample Analysis – bioaccumulation and water samples

Ni content in *Hyalella* was measured by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS SpectraAA 880 GTA 100 atomizer, Varian, Mississauga, ON). Ni, Ca and Mg in water samples was measured by AAS in flame mode. Both filtered and unfiltered samples were measured for Ni. Standards were made from NiCl<sub>2</sub>•6H<sub>2</sub>O, CaCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O and MgSO<sub>4</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O (all Sigma-Aldrich Inc., Mississauga, ON) and verified with an aqueous certified reference standard (TM-26.3, National Water Research Institute, Burlington, ON).

DOM samples were filtered and measured for DOC content using a TOC analyzer (Shimadzu TOC-V with ASI-V autosampler, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON) at Wilfrid Laurier University (Waterloo, ON). A subset of the samples, those from the DOM quantity experiment, were measured by the same method but with a different instrument (5050A TOC Analyzer, Shimadzu, Mandel Scientific Columbia, MD) at McMaster University (Hamilton, ON).
## 2.2.8 Optical characterization

All DOM sources were analyzed for optical characteristics, specifically  $SAC_{340}$ , FI values, HA-like content, and FA-like content via EEMS and PARAFAC. The  $SAC_{340}$  values of DOM sources were measured and analyzed (Christine Geiger, York University, ON) following the method of Al-Reasi et al. (2012) using the equation provided by Curtis and Schindler (1997):

$$SAC_{340} = [2303 \times (Abs340)] / DOC$$
 Equation 1

where Abs340 is the absorbance value at 340nm and DOC represents the concentration of DOM that was used for measurements. All DOM samples were increased to a pH of 7 by the addition of 0.1 NaOH then diluted to a concentration of 10 mg DOC/L with MilliQ filtered water (18m $\Omega$ .cm; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON) before analysis. These samples were then placed in a 1cm quartz cell (Helma Canada Ltd. Concord, On, Canada) and measured three times. Measuring the absorbance of MilliQ filtered water (18m $\Omega$ .cm; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON) was used as a reference (i.e., blank). A correlation of SAC<sub>340</sub> values and measured LC<sub>50</sub> values will be made to determine if absorbance coefficients can explain differences in protective effects from Ni toxicity.

FI was conducted (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University, ON) following the methods of Gheorghiu et al. (2010) and was calculated via (McKnight et al., 2001):

$$FI = (370:450)/(370:500)$$
 Equation 2

where FI is the ratio of intensities at 370:450 and 370:500 (excitation : emission wavelengths in

nm). The concentration of DOM used for these measurements was 5 mg DOC/L. DOM samples were also analyzed for HA-like and FA-like components using EEMS and PARAFAC. PARAFAC analyzes the data produced by EEMS and yields three-dimensional contour plots that distinguish different components found within DOM including HA-like and FA-like content (Smith and Kramer, 1999)

#### 2.2.9 Calculations and statistical analysis

Survival data from toxicity exposures were used to calculate  $LC_{50}$  values using the Comprehensive Environmental Toxicity Information System (CETIS, v.6.0, Tidepool Scientific Software) and this was done on a measured total and dissolved Ni basis. The Spearman-Karber statistical test was used to approximate the  $LC_{50}$  value based on survival data. Significant differences in  $LC_{50}$ s were assessed by using overlaps of the 95% confidence intervals (CI). In cases where intervals overlapped, the statistical method developed by Litchfield and Wilcoxon (1938) as described by Gillis et al. (2010) was used to assess significant differences.

Ni bioaccumulation was measured on a whole body dry weight basis as  $\mu$ g Ni/ g dry weight. Differences among treatment groups were tested by one-way ANOVA followed with, when appropriate, the Fischer LSD test using Sigmaplot<sup>TM</sup> (v. 11), a scientific data analysis and graphing software.

## 2.2.10 Modelling

The BLM was altered from the model for Daphnia pulex in soft water developed by

Kozlova et al. (2009) for the prediction of toxic effects caused by Ni to *Hyalella azteca*. The conditional equilibrium constants describing the toxic interaction of  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ , and  $Ni^{2+}$  on the biotic ligand remained unmodified ( $logK_{CaBL} = 4.2$ ,  $logK_{MgBL} = 3.6$ , and  $logK_{NiBL} = 4.87$ ). The output created from this model was compared to the measured  $LC_{50}$  values. Through adjustments of values to the model, only the critical value (also known as the  $LA_{50}$ ) was changed to achieve a model of 'best fit' between the measured and predicted values. These adjustments achieved a model that can be used to predict Ni toxicity in soft waters with *Hyalella azteca*. Three models were produced (the effect of Ca, the effect of DOM quantity, and the effect of DOM quality/source) using the comparison of predicted Ni toxicity output created by the model and the measured Ni toxicity. For all models, measured water chemistry was used and a 10% humic acid component was assumed for DOC based on previous studies (Deleebeeck et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2003).

#### 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Water chemistry

Water chemistry was measured for Ni (mg/L), Ca (mM), Mg (mM), and DOC (mg/L) when necessary (Table 2.2). For measurements of Ni, unfiltered and filtered water samples were analyzed for total Ni and dissolved Ni, respectively. Dissolved Ni was calculated to be 99.9  $\pm$  7 % (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 250) of total Ni; consequently, all Ni concentrations are reported on a total Ni basis. Ni concentrations at 96h were calculated to be an average of 96.6  $\pm$  4% (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 250) of Ni concentrations at day 0 (range from 92 to 107%). To monitor changes (if any) between the start (0 h) and end of exposure (96 h) in total Ni, dissolved Ni, and DOC (when necessary), a paired t-test was performed and no significant difference occurred (t = 0.858, P =

0.392; t = 1.639, P = 0.108; t = -0.489, P = 0.630, respectively). In acute exposures with culture medium and added Ni (no additional modifying factors), 88.1% of total Ni is calculated to be free Ni<sup>2+</sup> ion by the Windermere Humic Aqueous Model (WHAM, ver.7.0.2) at the measured  $LC_{50}$  value. Other Ni species were predicted to be 7.8%, 0.4%, and 3.6% for NiHCO<sub>3</sub>, NiSO<sub>4</sub>, and NiCO<sub>3</sub> respectively. The BLM, on the other hand, predicted the same solution to be 82.7% Ni<sup>2+</sup> ion while Ni species NiHCO<sub>3</sub>, NiSO<sub>4</sub>, and NiCO<sub>3</sub> were predicted to be 8%, 0.3%, and 1.8%, respectively. When the two models are compared, WHAM predicts more of these specific Ni species (NiHCO<sub>3</sub>, NiSO<sub>4</sub> and NiCO<sub>3</sub>) by 1% than the BLM as well as more Ni<sup>2+</sup> ions.

#### 2.3.2 Ni toxicity

Six toxicity tests with only Ni were performed in the artificial soft water medium and  $LC_{50}$  values were consistent over time ranging from 0.55 ± 0.31 to 0.89 ± 0.10 mg Ni/L (± 95% CI). The mean  $LC_{50}$  value was 0.70 ± 0.10 mg Ni/L (± SEM, n = 6).

## 2.3.3 Cationic competition on acute Ni toxicity

The addition of Ca increased  $LC_{50}$  values (Fig 2.2a). This reduction in toxicity has a positive linear trend increasing to a Ca concentration of 0.75 mM then remained relatively constant at higher Ca concentrations (Fig 2.2a). Contrary to results in the Ca series, the increase of Mg concentrations from 0.025 to 0.5 mM did not cause  $LC_{50}$  values to change significantly. However there were problems in the Mg series as unexposed controls for the elevated Mg testing (0.5 mM) mostly did not meet the acceptable minimal survival of 80%, given in the test method (Environment Canada, 1997). This test was repeated three times with mortality rates of 45 %, 35% and 30% before an acceptable survival rate for testing was achieved.

## 2.3.4 DOM complexation on acute Ni toxicity

The 12 DOM sources (differing in levels of impact) were tested for their relative ability to protect *Hyalella azteca* from the effects of waterborne Ni. DOM quantity as well as quality was tested.  $LC_{50}$  values increased with increasing DOM concentration (Fig 2.2b). Protective effects were observed to be statistically significant when nominal concentrations of DOM were at 6 mg DOC/L and higher (Fig 2.2b) and therefore, this threshold concentration (i.e., 6 mg DOC/L) was chosen for exposures where source quality was assessed.

When the different sources of DOM were compared at a common measured concentration of 7 mg DOC/L, the LC<sub>50</sub> values differed by approximately 2-fold (Fig 2.3). The DOM source with the highest level of protection was Plastic Lake ( $2.04 \pm 0.6$  mg Ni/L ( $\pm 95\%$  CI)) while the lowest was Clearwater Lake ( $1.00 \pm 0.4$  mg Ni/L ( $\pm 95\%$  CI)). Ten of the twelve DOM sources tested offered significant protective effects (at 7.0  $\pm 1.2$  mg DOC/L (mean  $\pm$  SEM)) compared to a corresponding Ni only spiked exposure (Fig 2.3). DOM from Clearwater Lake and P108 offered no significant protective effect against Ni toxicity (Fig 2.3).

#### 2.3.5 Bioaccumulation

Ni accumulation in *Hyalella azteca* during LC<sub>50</sub> tests was measured after 6 h of exposure to assess possible links between short term accumulation (whole body basis) and subsequent 96 h survival. Bioaccumulation of Ni was much lower in the presence of DOM compared to the Nionly exposure (Fig 2.4). Without any added DOM, Ni accumulation was as high as 2200  $\mu$ g Ni/g dry weight (n = 1) at 4 mg Ni/L (Fig 2.4). When DOM was added to exposure, Ni accumulation reached a high of 166 ± 14.5  $\mu$ g Ni/g dry weight (mean ± SEM, n = 5) at 4 mg Ni/L (Fig 2.3). Different DOM sources provided different accumulation patterns where accumulation ranged from  $32 \pm 4.0 \ \mu g \ \text{Ni/g} \ \text{dry}$  weight (mean  $\pm \ \text{SEM}$ , n = 6) to  $166 \pm 14.5 \ \mu g \ \text{Ni/g} \ \text{dry}$  weight (mean  $\pm \ \text{SEM}$ , n = 5) at 4 mg Ni/L (Fig 2.4). Ni accumulation at the respective LC<sub>50</sub> values were observed to vary where bioaccumulation ranged from 20  $\ \mu g \ \text{Ni/g} \ \text{dry}$  weight (Lake Laurentian) to 49  $\ \mu g \ \text{Ni/g} \ \text{dry}$  weight (Daisy Lake). Ni accumulation did not correspond to the protective abilities observed in LC<sub>50</sub> values.

## 2.3.6 Optical characteristics

SAC<sub>340</sub> values were calculated (Christine Geiger, York University, ON) and these results were then compared to the observed LC<sub>50</sub> values and were determined to have no correlation with both summer and fall collected samples ( $r^2 = 0.11$ , p > 0.05) (Fig 2.5a) . LC<sub>50</sub> values remained consistent when compared to FIs (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University, ON) where no correlation was observed in summer or fall samples ( $r^2 = 0.34$ , p > 0.05) (Fig 2.5d). PARAFAC analysis was performed on all twelve DOM sources (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University) where the analysis of HA-like and FA-like components were used to make correlations to the measured acute LC<sub>50</sub> values. No significant correlations with LC<sub>50</sub> values were demonstrated with either component: HA-like components ( $r^2 = 0.31$ , p > 0.05) (Fig 2.5b) and FA-like components ( $r^2 = -0.41$ , p > 0.05) (Fig 2.5c).

## 2.3.7 Modelling

The BLM developed by Kozlova et al. (2009) for Ni and *Daphnia pulex* was tested for the ability to predict acute Ni toxicity in *Hyalella azteca*. The original model (Kozlova et al.,

2009) predicted a LC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.5 mg Ni/L, which was less than the average measured LC<sub>50</sub> for *Hyalella* ( $0.70 \pm 0.10$  mg Ni/L (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 6)). The Kozlova model critical accumulation threshold value (in the modeling input matrix) was adjusted from 5.1 to 6.75 (nmol Ni/g) to account for this reduced sensitivity in *Hyalella*, and to bring the predicted LC<sub>50</sub> to 0.7 mg Ni/L.

This adjusted BLM was then compared to the Ca series of exposures to determine if the prediction model reflected the measured  $LC_{50}$  values. There was a good match between the predicted and measured  $LC_{50}$  values from 0.1 mM to 0.75 mM of Ca (Fig 2.2a). At 2.0 mM, there was a significant difference between the measured and predicted value where the protective measure was over-predicted by a factor of 2.5 (Fig 2.2a).

This BLM model was also used to compare predicted to measured  $LC_{50}$  values for DOM exposures, both quantity and quality (difference between sources). In the DOM quantity series, the model under-predicted the protective effects of Harp Lake DOM at 3 and 6 mg DOC/L but did show a perfect prediction at 12 mg DOC/L (Fig 2.2b). For the DOM quality series, the predicted  $LC_{50}$  value at a measured concentration of 7 mg DOC/L was 1.4 mg Ni/L and this is an intermediate value within the range of  $LC_{50}$  tests with various DOM sources (Fig 2.3).

## 2.4 Discussion

This study shows that *Hyalella azteca* are sensitive to Ni and that Ca and DOM provide protection against Ni toxicity (Fig 2.2 and 2.3). It was demonstrated by this study that Ni does cause a toxic effect to *Hyalella azteca*. Unexpectedly (in comparison to Kozlova et al., 2009 and Pane et al., 2003a), Mg did not provide significant protection. The protective effects of DOM against Ni toxicity were associated with reduced bioaccumulation patterns where metal accumulation in the organism decreased drastically (Fig 2.4). Different sources of DOM

provided varying protective effects (Fig 2.3), but these differences could not be explained by optical characteristics (i.e.,  $SAC_{340}$ , FI, HA-like component and FA-like component) (Fig 2.5 a – d). The mitigating effects of Ca and DOM were predicted reasonably (but not at high Ca) within the BLM, especially after adjustments had been made to account for the relative sensitivity of *Hyalella azteca* (Fig 2.2 and Fig 2.3).

Cations, such as Ca and Mg, provide protection against Ni toxicity in D. pulex (Kozlova et al., 2009), D. magna (Pane et al., 2003a), and in this experiment, Ca provided protection to Hyalella azteca (Fig 2.2a). Protection was not provided by Mg and this deviates from the conclusion that main water hardness cations (e.g., Mg<sup>2+</sup>) protect against Ni toxicity and are primary toxicity modifying factors (Pane et al., 2003a; Keithly et al., 2004; Hoang et al., 2004). In the Ca series of the Kozlova et al. (2009) study, the 48 h EC<sub>50</sub> at 0.1 mM Ca (1.3 mg Ni/L) was approximately double that of our observed 96 h LC<sub>50</sub> at the same Ca concentration. The difference between these values may represent a higher sensitivity of *Hyalella* to Ni. A longer duration of exposure (48h for D. pulex and 96h for H. azteca), or perhaps differences due to water chemistry (other than Ca, e.g., Mg or  $HCO_3$ ) may also explain differences in  $LC_{50}$  values between studies. Although the responses to Ni (between Kozlova et al., 2009 and our study) were different (quantitatively), the protective effect of elevated Ca was comparable between the Ca concentrations of 0.1 and 0.75 mM where a 6-fold increase in protection against Ni toxicity was observed for both studies. In addition to the similar trend of protection, the BLM model for Daphnia (adjusted for sensitivity) provided reasonable estimates of protection against Ni toxicity for Hyalella (also see BLM discussion).

The protective effect of Ca on Ni toxicity indicates an interaction between  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Ni^{2+}$ and likely reflects the competition between the two ions for uptake sites (Meyer et al., 1999). This competitive interaction is consistent with the mechanistic assumptions underpinning the BLM, although the mechanism of Ni uptake to *Hyalella* is not well known. While Ca protection may signify a direct  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Ni^{2+}$  interaction for uptake, it is also possible that physiological effects of elevated Ca indirectly protect against Ni toxicity (Schubauer-Berigan et al., 1993; Meyer et al.,1999). This is supported by the study of Pane et al. (2003a) where Ca protection against Ni toxicity to *D. magna* was indirect. In that same study (Pane et al., 2003a), Ni uptake was directly related to the inhibition of Mg uptake (i.e.,  $Mg^{2+}/Ni^{2+}$  competition for uptake).

The uptake of Ca within an organism is important since it leads to the regulation of major functions. It is hypothesized in fish that Ca is required for the synthesis of vitellogenin, which is required for oocyte production (Hogstrand and Wood, 1996). The decrease in Ca uptake can lead to an imbalance within the system resulting in a decrease of Ca in the plasma which eventually leads to hypocalcemia, a deficiency of calcium in the bloodstream (Santore et al., 2002). Ca is important in crustaceans since it is a major component of the carapace (Cameron and Wood, 1985). Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion regulation has been observed to be disturbed in many organisms by metals such as Zn (Santore et al., 2002; Clifford and McGeer, 2008), and Cd (Clifford and McGeer, 2010). However, it has been suggested by Pane et al. (2003a) that Ni differs from other metals since antagonism of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis was not observed following an acute waterborne Ni exposure (although it was indicated that the results were difficult to interpret due to the process of molting and calcification of the carapace in daphnids). Contrary to the study of Pane et al. (2003a), our study shows that Ca does protect against Ni toxicity but whether this represents direct competition for uptake between Ca and Ni and a physiological difference between Daphnia and Hyalella is unknown but is worthy of further study.

The effect of Mg on Ni toxicity observed in these studies was unexpected because other

studies (Pane et al., 2003a, 2004; Kozlova et al., 2009) have shown Mg to have protective effects. Surprisingly, the increased Mg concentration in our study seemed to create a stressful response causing a decrease in survival of organisms even though no Ni was present (i.e., controls). These results differed from that observed in Kozlova et al. (2009) with *Daphnia pulex* where a protective effect of Mg was observed and the reported  $LC_{50}$  value was 2.5-fold higher than our observed values (30  $\mu$ M of Ni (1.76 mg Ni/L) compared to 0.66 mg Ni/L, respectively) at an elevated Mg level of 0.5 mM. Similar to that of the Ca exposures, differences in physiology between the organisms might explain the variation in  $LC_{50}$  values. Differences between the protective abilities of Ca and Mg may also be explained by Ca having a stronger influence on Ni toxicity than Mg (Schroeder et al., 2010).

An interaction between Ni and Mg is well characterized in mammalian literature. It has been observed that Ni is chemically similar to Mg (Weast, 1973) and therefore able to be taken up in the same manner. In fact, Mg is able to mimic carcinogenic processes such as genotoxicity, cell transformation as well as tumor induction caused by Ni substances (Costa, 1991; Sunderman, 1989). Similarly, Ni is able to inhibit the function of DNA polymerase, a Mg requiring enzyme (Costa, 1991). The mechanism of inhibition in invertebrates is not well characterized but the uptake of Mg is directly inhibited by Ni through a blockade of Mg channels or Ni may indirectly hinder an active transporter of Mg (Pane et al., 2003a). Ni antagonizes Mg in an acute waterborne exposure with *D. magna* where whole body Mg concentrations were significantly reduced in the presence of Ni (Pane et al., 2003a). Clearly, the Mg concentration in our exposure was sufficiently elevated which induced detrimental effects (where controls did not survive well) and therefore few conclusions can be drawn about potential interactions between Ni and Mg to *Hyalella azteca*.

Aside from the addition of cations, elevated concentrations of DOM in this study caused a reduction of Ni toxicity (Fig 2.2b); similar reductions are reported for other species such as fathead minnow (Wu et al., 2003), *Daphnia magna* (Deleebeeck et al., 2007), and *Daphnia pulex* (Kozlova et al., 2009). The protective effect observed is most likely caused by the complexation of DOM and Ni<sup>2+</sup> ions (Livens, 1991). This study shows that different sources of DOM offer different degrees of protection (Fig 2.3) similar to the study by Richards et al. (2001). However a 2-fold variation in protective effects were provided and this is generally less than that provided for Cu (for example); where it can range over four-fold or more. Differences in the capacities of DOMs to reduce the toxicity of metals have been linked to variations in their optical characteristics, as measured by parameters such as SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI, HA-like and FA-like content (Schwartz et al., 2004). In this study, there were no meaningful correlations between optical characteristics and measured LC<sub>50</sub> values (Fig 2.5a – d).

SAC<sub>340</sub> can serve as an indicator of aromatic compounds within DOM (Curtis and Schindler, 1997; Richards et al., 2001). Aromatic compounds in DOM mainly consist of HA-like content which has the ability to bind to metals and therefore can be correlated to toxicity mitigation abilities. A higher SAC<sub>340</sub> value correlates with a darker color of DOM which is related to a higher amount of aromatic groups (Abbt-Braun et al., 2004). DOM sources that reduce metal toxicity to a great degree are usually characterized to have a high protein-tocarbohydrate ratio, low nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations and a high degree of aromaticity represented as a high SAC<sub>340</sub> value (Richards et al., 2001). For example, the mitigation of Cu toxicity has been significantly and positive correlated to SAC<sub>340</sub> values (Al-Reasi et al., 2011) but these correlations were not observed in our studies with Ni toxicity (Fig 2.5a)

In addition to absorbance measurements (i.e., SAC<sub>340</sub>), fluorescence measures such as the

FI and those derived via EEMS and PARAFAC (vielding estimates of HA-like, and FA-like components) have been related to toxicity mitigation of metals such as Cu to fat head minnow (Ryan et al., 2004), rainbow trout (Schwartz et al., 2004), and Daphnia magna (Al Reasi et al., 2012) or Ag to fathead minnow (VanGenderen et al., 2003). Unfortunately, these optical characteristics did not provide protective correlations to Ni toxicity mitigation in this study (Fig 2.5). Measurements of FI ranged from 0.23 to 1.58 (Clearwater Lake and HP3 respectively) suggesting that most of our DOM sources were terrestrially derived in varying degrees. FI is an optical characteristic that provides information about the origin of DOM where a value of  $\sim 1.9$ describes a source that is autochthonous and a value of  $\sim 1.4$  represents a source that is terrestrially derived (McKnight et al., 2001). It has been widely accepted that autochthonous sources are lightly colored due to the enriched nitrogen and carbohydrate content in comparison to allochthonous DOM which are darker due to the richness in aromatic HA and FA (Richards et al., 2001). Therefore, a greater reduction of metal toxicity should be associated with a lower FI value, which in this study did not occur. Similarly, HA-like and FA-like components did not correlate with  $LC_{50}$  values (Fig 2.5b and Fig 2.5c). The percentage of HA content is positively related to the protective effects of DOM source on metal-toxicity more so than FA (Guthrie et al., 2003) and this effect was not observed for Ni.

The lack of relationships between optical characteristics and the mitigation of Ni toxicity by DOM may be explained by relative concentration differences between binding interactions and acute toxicity. Another way of considering this is that the strength of the binding interaction (as expressed by Log K values for example) to DOM and the biological surface are comparable within similar waterborne concentration ranges. For example, it appears that for Cu, the complexation by DOM and the acute toxicity to aquatic organisms occurs within approximately the same concentration range (e.g., Schwartz et al., 2004). There may not be the same chemical and biological synchrony as the strong binding of Ni to DOM occurs at a low concentration relative to the toxicity of Ni, which is in the range of 1-2 mg Ni/L (Town and Filella, 2002). Therefore, optical characteristics that are important predictors of strong binding to Cu do not provide the same predictive abilities for Ni. At higher concentrations, there is still some binding of Ni as toxicity mitigation and reduction in bioaccumulation were observed. To understand the mechanisms involved, it would be necessary to have an improved understanding of the characteristics of DOM.

A reduction of metal accumulation (a 10-fold decrease) was observed when DOM at a measured concentration of 7 mg DOC/L was added (Fig 2.4). It is expected that accumulation of metal (e.g., Ni) will decrease with added DOM since metal ions (e.g., Ni<sup>2+</sup>) complex with organic matter decreasing the amount of free Ni<sup>2+</sup> ions available for uptake (Di Toro et al., 2001). Our results are supported through other studies where the addition of DOM decreases Ni accumulation into the organism and therefore reduces toxic effects (e.g., Livens, 1991; Kozlova et al., 2009). Although the addition of DOM reduced Ni accumulation, patterns of bioaccumulation were different than those observed by Borgmann et al. (2001). Ni accumulation in Hyalella at 0.5 mg Ni/L was 10-fold higher in our study when compared to the study of Borgmann et al. (2001). The difference in results may be caused by length of time for accumulation (6 hr vs. 7 days), age of *Hyalella* used (2 - 9 days vs. 4 - 6 weeks), or even the effect of a 24 h gut clearance in the Borgmann et al. (2001) study. Although the addition of DOM produced a difference in accumulation patterns, it was not possible to tease out accumulationtoxicity relationships among the different sources of DOM. It is hypothesized that DOM sources which provide less protection will produce high levels of Ni bioaccumulation (and vice versa)

but this was not observed. Therefore, the results do not support the theory that Ni accumulation is directly related to a toxic effect (Borgmann et al., 1991, 1998, and 2001), except from the general perspective of DOM presence in exposure.

The development of a BLM for Hyalella azteca in soft waters showed that toxicity can be predicted reasonably well (Fig 2.2a, Fig 2.2b and Fig 2.3). Although the model provided reasonable predictions of competitive interactions when compared to the measured values for the Ca series, there was an over prediction by a factor of 2.5 at 2.0 mM of Ca (Fig 2.2a). This suggests that the model lacks the ability to account for the potential for Ca to induce physiological effects in Hyalella that may have altered Ni toxicity responses. The prediction of the Ca series was observed in the DOM quantity series as well (i.e., increasing DOM concentrations reduces Ni toxicity) but the predicted effects were underestimated (Fig 2.2b). A prediction of toxicity with DOM at a measured concentration of 7 mg DOC/L was intermediate (Fig 2.3) and it is clear that the measurement of DOC as one value (10% humic acid; Deleebeeck et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2003) does not account for source differences since various protective effects related to different DOM sources are observed in our studies similar to that of Kozlova et al. (2009). It is demonstrated that an adjustment in HA content (from 10% to the measured value) (Wood et al., 2011) or FA content (Deleebeeck et al., 2008) will result in a better prediction due to a 'better fit'. This holds true for metals such as Cu since there is a good correlation between optical characteristics of DOM and their ability to reduce toxicity, but this is not the case for Ni (Fig 2.5). Therefore further study in the toxicity of Ni and its interaction with DOM is needed to understand the relationship between optical characteristics and DOM source.

Site name	Location	Collection	GPS co-	LC <sub>50</sub>	SAC	HA	FA	FI
		date	ordinates	(mg Ni/L)	BAC 340	%	%	11
Laurentian	Sudbury	July 2010	46447'N,	1.8	26.8	53	26	1 27
Lake			80.961'W	(1.47 - 2.32)				1.27
Laurentian	Sudbury	July 2010	46450'N,	1.1	38.0	65	65	1.20
Wetland			80942'W	(0.73 - 1.59)				
Daisy Lake	Sudbury	July 2010	46450'N,	1.4	16.4	57	27	1.44
			80888'W	(1.14 – 1.69)				
Clearwater	Sudbury	October	46370'N,	1.0	9.7	0	78	0.23
Lake	Suddury	2011	81050'W	(0.87 - 1.15)				
White R.	White	September	48.751442, -	1.7	10.4	53	35	1.20
Reference	River	2011	85.17329	(1.02 - 2.62)	19.4			
White R.	White	September	48.653532, -	1.3	0.0	25	12	1 25
Burned	River	2011	85.36495	(0.96 - 1.65)	9.9	33	43	1.55
White R.	White	September	48.431849, -	1.3	22.2	61	30	1.40
Logged	River	2011	85.350316	(1.12 - 1.47)	22.3	01	39	1.40
Harp Lake	Muskoka	October	45228'N,	1.9	27.0	34	66	1.36
		2011	79085'W	(1.48 - 1.73)	21.9			
HP3	Muskoka	October	45224'N,	1.8	27.9	100	0	1.58
		2011	79084'W	(1.48 - 2.24)				
Plastic	Muskoka	October	45107'N,	2.0	10.4	67	23	1.13
Lake		2011	78496'W	(1.53 - 3.04)				
PC01	Muskoka	October	45107'N,	1.3	30.4	69	11	1.01
		2011	78497'W	(0.75 – 1.98)				1.21
P108	Muskoka	October	45109'N.	1.0	13.8	64	37	1.00
		2011	78497'W	(0.8 - 1.23)				1.38

**Table 2.1.** All sources of DOM used in toxicity testing are listed below. The location as well as time of collection and GPS co-ordinates of each site are noted. The respective  $LC_{50}$  values associated with each DOM source and well as its optical characteristics are present.

**Table 2.2.** Water chemistry for each series along with  $LC_{50}$  values from 96 h toxicity tests with *Hyalella azteca*. Calculated LC50 values are based on measure Ni concentration (with lower confidence limit (LCL) and upper confidence limit (UCL)) were calculated from measured concentrations (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n)).

Series	Ca (mM)	Mg (mM)	рН	DOC (mg/L)	LC <sub>50</sub> (mg Ni/L)
Са	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.03 (22)	$0.83 \pm 0.11$ (10)	0.56 (0.33 – 0.94)
	$0.28 \pm 0.03$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.007$ (48)	$7.12 \pm 0.02$ (22)	0.82 ± 0.11 (10)	1.08 (0.84-1.39)
	$0.75 \pm 0.09$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.006$ (48)	7.15 ± 0.02 (22)	0.81 ± 0.11 (10)	2.69 (2.09 - 3.47)
	$2.19 \pm 0.24$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.21 ± 0.02 (22)	0.83 ± 0.11 (10)	3.16 (2.48 - 4.03)
Mg	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.17 ± 0.02 (22)	0.83 ± 0.11 (10)	1.08 (0.77 – 1.32)
	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.51 \pm 0.005$ (48)	$7.14 \pm 0.02$ (22)	$0.82 \pm 0.11$ (10)	0.66 (0.27 – 1.61)
Harp Lake DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.005$ (48)	7.15 ± 0.02 (22)	$2.76 \pm 0.39$ (10)	1.41 (1.15 – 1.73)
	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.12 ± 0.02 (22)	6.48 ± 0.17 (10)	1.88 (1.48 – 2.32)
	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	12.46 ± 0.52 (10)	2.01 (1.66 - 2.44)
Lake Laurentian DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.003$ (48)	7.13 ± 0.02 (22)	$6.32 \pm 0.36$ (10)	1.85 (1.47 – 2.32)
Laurentian wetland DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.005$ (48)	7.18 ± 0.02 (22)	6.58 ± 0.38 (10)	1.11 (0.73 – 1.59)
Daisy Lake DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	$7.15 \pm 0.02$ (22)	$7.12 \pm 0.36$ (10)	1.38 (1.14 – 1.69)
White R. Reference DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	$7.19 \pm 0.02$ (22)	7.11 ± 0.30 (10)	1.65 (1.02 – 2.62)
White R. Burned DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.003$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	$7.15 \pm 0.98$ (10)	1.27 (0.96 – 1.65)
White R. Logged DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	$6.99 \pm 0.30$ (10)	1.28 (1.12 – 1.47)
HP3 DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	$7.19 \pm 0.21$ (10)	1.81 (1.48 – 2.24)
Clearwater Lake DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.005$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	6.73 ±0.33 (10)	1.00 (0.87 – 1.15)
Plastic Lake DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	$7.19 \pm 0.18$ (10)	2.03 (1.53 - 3.04)
P108 DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.006$ (48)	$7.11 \pm 0.02$ (22)	$6.46 \pm 0.23$ (10)	1.00 (0.8 – 1.23)
PC01 DOM	$0.09 \pm 0.01$ (48)	$0.03 \pm 0.004$ (48)	7.11 ± 0.02 (22)	7.01 ± 0.35 (10)	1.27 (0.75 – 1.98)



**Figure 2.1.** Map of DOM collection sites in central Ontario. In the White River area, 3 sites were collected (s1 = reference, s2 = burned, s3 = logged). Four sites were collected from the Sudbury area (CWL = Clearwater Lake, LW = Laurentian Wetlands, LL = Laurentian Lake, DL = Daisy Lake) and 5 sites were collected from the Muskoka area (HP = Harp Lake and HP3, PL = Plastic Lake, PC01, P108).



**Figure 2.2.** Protective effects of Ca (a) and DOM quantity (b) on acute Ni toxicity. Ca was added as  $CaCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$  at 0.1, 0.3, 0.75 and 2 (all mM) (a: black) while Harp Lake DOM was added at 3, 6, and 12 mg DOC/L (b: black). Open points (a and b) represent predictions from adjusted BLM for *Hyalella* (based on Kozlova et al., 2009) where critical value was changed to 6.75 from 5.1. Error bars represent 95% CI of LC50 values and \* denotes significant difference from control (no added Ca (a) or DOM (b)).



**Figure 2.3.** Comparison of DOM source differences via protective effects (LC<sub>50</sub> values) tested at a measured concentration of 7 mg DOC/L. Black bar represents a mean of LC<sub>50</sub> values (0.70  $\pm$ 0.10 mg Ni/L, n = 6) of Ni only exposures (no added DOM). Color of bars denote disturbance type (open = smelter impacted, light grey = burned, dark grey = logged, and medium grey = unimpacted/reference). Patterns on bars represent water type (open = lakes, side hatch = wetlands, and dotted = streams). Crosshatch bar (pDOM) represents a prediction of protective effect from Ni toxicity with added DOM (humic acid = 10%) through adjusted BLM model for *Hyalella*. Error bars represent 95% CI on measured LC<sub>50</sub> values and \* denotes significant difference from average Ni only exposures.



**Figure 2.4**. Bioaccumulation of Ni in *Hyalella* (n = 6 at each concentration or each exposure) at 6 hours for Ni only exposure (black circles) as well as 6 other DOM source exposures (all measured at 7 mg DOC/L). These sources include Daisy Lake (grey circles), Laurentian Lake (white triangles), Laurentian Wetlands (dark grey inverted triangles), White River Reference (light grey squares), Burned (dark grey squares), and Logged (black diamonds). Error bars represent standard error of Ni accumulation within the organisms. LC<sub>50</sub> values for each source is also listed to show bioaccumulation and protective effect relationship.



**Figure 2.5**. Relationship between optical characterizations of twelve DOM sources to measured  $LC_{50}$  values. These optical characterizations include :  $SAC_{340}$  values (a) at 10 mg DOC/L, % humic (b) and fulvic (c) acid components measured at 5 mg DOC/L, and FI (d) measured at 5 mg DOC/L. All optical characterization was separated into summer (open) and fall (black) collection times. Correlations for all optical characteristics were not significant:  $SAC_{340}$ ,  $r^2 = 0.11$ , p > 0.05; % humic acid ,  $r^2 = 0.31$ , p > 0.05; % fulvic acid,  $r^2 = -0.41$ , p > 0.05; FI,  $r^2 = 0.34$ , p > 0.05. Error bars represent 95% CI of  $LC_{50}$  values. Corresponding data for optical characteristics of DOM sources found in Table 2.1.

# 2.5 Conclusion

The results of this study show that Ca as well as DOM reduces Ni toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* while Mg does not seem to show any protective effect. The protective effects of Ca and DOM are observed to be similar although mechanisms of protection are different, competition vs. complexation, respectively. While DOM does reduce Ni toxicity, DOM source matters as well and differences in sources yields different protective effects against Ni toxicity. Unexpectedly, the optical characteristics of each DOM source (i.e., SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI, HA-like and FA-like components) are observed to have no correlation to the toxicity reducing capabilities to Ni. BLM modelling was generally successful in accounting for Ca competition as well as DOM complexation although not at higher levels of Ca. Further study is required in order to better understand the mechanisms of uptake of Ni in *Hyalella* and interactions of Ni and DOM in relation to toxicity mitigation.

# Chapter 3 Influence of Ca and DOM on chronic responses to Ni

## 3.1 Introduction

Ni is not as well studied as other metals (e.g., Cu or Zn) for acute toxicity and even less is known about chronic Ni toxicity. While acute exposures are short and relatively simple to conduct, chronic exposures are more relevant to the long term effects of toxins such as Ni. The results yielded by chronic exposures may differ than those obtained in acute studies due to the possibility of different mechanisms of toxicity (Adams et al., 2010). The factors that influence acute toxicity may influence chronic toxicity as well. Physiological changes in chronic exposures may be caused by multiple effects rather than a single mechanism or site of action for a specific metal (Adams et al., 2010). Generalizations cannot be made about the comparison between acute and chronic exposures because mechanisms are specific to the test organism and metal (Adams et al., 2010). Modifying factors that affect Ni toxicity in acute exposures could be mirrored in chronic studies such that a protective effect observed in acute exposures may cause detrimental effects in chronic exposures due to the difference in exposure duration.

This study focuses on the protective effects of Ca and DOM on chronic Ni toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* in very soft waters. *Hyalella azteca* are omnivorous and benthic amphipods (Pennak, 1953) that are distributed throughout shallow fresh-water lakes in the Boreal Shield area (Othman and Pascoe, 2001). These organisms are often used for toxicity testing of metals since they are sensitive to aquatic contaminants (Borgmann, 1998; Environment Canada, 1997; Ingersoll et al., 1998). Their sensitivity makes them a relevant organism in understanding the potential for contaminants to impact aquatic biota.

Chronic effects of Ni have been studied by Deleebeeck et al. (2007) and Schroeder et al. (2010) in hard water with various invertebrates (e.g., *Hyalella azteca*) but the long term effects

of Ni in soft waters are not well understood. Elevated Ni concentrations have been shown to link to Mg disruption and deficiency of gas exchange at the gill in *Daphnia* (Pane et al., 2003a) as well as disturb respiratory function in fish (Pane et al., 2004). Toxic impacts on survival were observed at 0.3  $\mu$ M Ni/L (17.61  $\mu$ g Ni/L) by Schroeder et al. (2010) where the presence of Ca and Mg decreased Ni toxicity by a factor of 8.5 and 6.7, respectively.

Similar to acute toxic effects, chronic effects are also a result of metal ion (i.e., Ni<sup>2+</sup>) interaction at the biotic ligand where Ni<sup>2+</sup> is considered to be the most toxic form of Ni (Pagenkoft, 1983). The water chemistry influences metal toxicity where competition, complexation, and concentration affect metal ion bioavailability (Di Toro et al., 2001). Competition between Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Ni<sup>2+</sup> as well as complexation with DOM provide protective effects (Di Toro et al., 2001). Toxicity of Ni is reduced in the presence of toxicity-modifying factors such as Ca (Schroeder et al., 2010; Kozlova et al., 2009) and DOM, where DOM from different sources showed different protective effects (Kozlova et al., 2009, Richards et al., 2001). Furthermore, the concentrations of Ca, DOM and Ni affects the ratio between bioavailable and complexed forms of the metal therefore influencing the potential for toxic impact (Di Toro et al., 2001).

These protective effects can be quantified by common toxicity indicators such as survival and growth as well as bioaccumulation (as suggested by Borgmann et al., 2001). Bioaccumulation has been suggested to be the most direct way of quantifying bioavailable contaminants which can be related to an observed toxic effect (i.e., survival: Borgmann et al., 2001). Prediction of chronic Ni toxicity based on Ni accumulation within *Hyalella* may be possible since body concentrations are suggested to be a better measure of toxicity than water concentrations of metals (Borgmann et al., 1991, 1998; Borgmann and Norwood, 1997). The use of bioaccumulation measurements for predicting metal toxicity is supported although problems may arise through the use of whole body organisms since metal uptake is dynamic where the duration and exposure condition can affect metal accumulation (Adams et al., 2010). Some organisms have the ability to store and detoxify metals within the body therefore it may be difficult to assess linkages between toxicity and metal accumulation (Adams et al., 2010). If *Hyalella azteca* is an organism that cannot store and detoxify metals, assessing Ni bioaccumulation using the whole body approach in this chronic study may lead to the understanding of potential linkages to the modifying influences of Ca and DOM on Ni toxicity.

The DOMs used in this study are collected to compare previously-smelter-impacted aquatic systems in Sudbury (Daisy Lake) to reference conditions in the Muskoka region (Plastic Lake). Daisy Lake was chosen due to the previous impacts of smelter emissions and relatively unsuccessful recovery despite great efforts. Plastic Lake was chosen because of its pristine conditions (reference site). DOMs are heterogeneous and complex due to their formation from various precursors which affect the composition and structures of these compounds (McKnight and Aiken, 1998). The differences between these sources can be identified with optical characterization such as measurements of absorbance and fluorescence through EEMS and PARAFAC (i.e., SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI, HA-like and FA-like components). It has been suggested that optical characteristics help explain differences in protective effects provided by different DOM sources to the toxic effect of various metals (Al-Reasi et al., 2012); therefore the same could be observed with Ni.

The objectives of this research are to understand the role of Ca and DOM on the chronic toxicity of Ni to *Hyalella azteca*. This was done by 1) determining the effect of Ca on chronic Ni toxicity, 2) understanding if DOM sources differ in their capacity to influence chronic Ni

toxicity, and 3) comparing and contrasting the acute and chronic effects of Ni on *Hyalella azteca*. Based on the approach to this reasearch, it is hypothesized that Ca and DOM will act in the same manner in chronic studies as they do in acute studies where the addition of toxicity modifying factors (Ca and DOM) would increase  $LC_{50}$  values (protect against Ni toxicity) but have different toxic effects amount the same DOC concentrations of different sources.

## 3.2 Materials and methods

## 3.2.1 Invertebrate cultures

*Hyalella azteca* were collected in August 2010 from Hannah Lake in Sudbury which is a previously acidified and metal impacted lake in Ontario. Collected organisms were identified as *Hyalella azteca* by referencing to Pennak (1953). Culturing protocol followed Environment Canada standard method EPS 1/RM/33 (Environment Canada, 1997). Groups of 30 adults were cultured in 1L polyethylene beakers with 800mL of an artificial soft water medium consisting of: 0.1mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.1mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 0.025mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.005mM KCl, and 0.001mM NaBr (all salts from Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) at pH 7.0, temperature of 20 °C ± 1 °C with a 16h light: 8h dark photoperiod. Br was added to the soft water medium since it is an essential element for reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* (Borgmann, 1996). Organisms were fed 5 mg of Tetramin TM flakes (Tetra Werke, Blacksburg, VA, USA) 3 times a week on non-consecutive days and static water renewals (100%) were performed weekly. A piece of cheese cloth (5 cm x 5 cm) was placed in each beaker to act as substrate for the amphipods. Neonates were harvested weekly by screening through mesh sizes 650 µm (for adults) and 275 µm (for neonates) and were used either for testing or to maintain organism cultures.

## 3.2.2 Natural DOM collection and preparation

Two DOM sites, Daisy Lake and Plastic Lake, were collected in July 2010 and Oct 2011 respectively by reverse osmosis concentration, followed by resination and refrigeration at pH 2 (Schwartz et al., 2004). Water was collected a few meters from the shore of the sites and pumped through a 5µm filter to remove any particulate debris before transferring to the stainless steel portable reverse osmosis unit. The reverse osmosis unit was equipped with XYZABC membranes. About 8 L of DOM concentrate (ranged from 6 to 10 L) was collected by transferring approximately 350 L (200 to 500 L, source dependent) of lake water through the reverse osmosis. The DOM concentrate was collected in pre-washed 4 L polyethylene containers or 10 L polypropylene containers that were previously rinsed with 0.1% HNO<sub>3</sub>.

The DOM collected is poured into a stainless steel pot and activated resin (USF C-211 H cation resin, U.S. Filter Corporation, Rockford IL) is added to lower the pH and strip the DOM of any cations or residual metals; a process called resination. To activate resin, 600 mL of 4N HCl (Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) was added to 3.6 L of resin for 5 minutes then rinsed 5 times with deionized water and then another 5 times with MilliQ filtered water ( $18m\Omega.cm$ ; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON). Properly resinated DOM will have a stable pH and not change when more activated resin is added to the solution (usually a pH of 2). These samples were measured for DOC content and refrigerated at 4°C. Before using DOM in exposures, aliquots of concentrate were adjusted to pH 7.0 by adding 0.1 mM NaOH (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON). Appropriate dilutions of DOM concentrate were then done to achieve the desired test DOC concentrations.

## 3.2.3 Exposure conditions

Chronic toxicity tests were exposed for 28 days, performed in triplicate, with 10 neonates (2 - 9 d of age per replicate), in standardized volumes (200 mL of solution in a 400 mL polyethylene beaker) that were fed 5 mg of Tetramin<sup>TM</sup> flakes (Tetra Werke, Blacksburg, VA, USA) 3 times a week on non-consecutive days after a static water renewal (100%) (Environment Canada, 1997). Stock solutions of 10 L for the test were made by adding aliquots of 1g/L stock of NiCl<sub>2</sub>•6H<sub>2</sub>O (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) to prepared aquatic media to give exposure concentrations ranging from 10 to 160 µg/L.

Toxicity-modifying-factors tested included Ca at 1 mM and 2 DOM sources. The acute effects of Mg were not significant and struggled to maintain an acceptable survival percentage (80 %) and therefore chronic testing with Mg did not occur. The Ca concentration was chosen to be 1 mM based on protective effects observed in acute studies. The Ca solution was prepared by adding CaCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) to the artificial soft water medium.

Two sources of DOM were used for chronic testing - Daisy Lake DOM and Plastic Lake DOM. These two exposures started 2 weeks apart from each other and separate control replicates (no added DOM) were used to account for possible changes to the organisms over time. Both sources of DOM were tested at a nominal concentration of 6 mg DOC/L based on observed acute protective effects.

## 3.2.4 Ni bioaccumulation

Chronic Ni bioaccumulation was analyzed in surviving Hyalella at the end of the 28 day

exposure (n values varied since it was based on survival of the organisms; range of n = 1 to n = 30). As a control measure, organisms (n = 20) were also sampled at day 0.

## 3.2.5 Sampling and digestion

Water samples were collected just before 100% static water renewals of solution (3 times a week on non-consecutive days) to determine water chemistry. Filtered (0.45  $\mu$ m HT tuffryn, Pall, Ann Arbor, MI) and unfiltered water samples (10 ml) were collected for dissolved and total (respectively) Ni concentrations. Each sample was taken with a 10 mL disposable syringe (NORM-JECT®, Henke Sass Wolf, Germany) and stored in 20 mL scintillation vials (VWR International, LLC, Mississauga, ON). The samples are acidified to 1% by adding 100  $\mu$ L of 16N HNO<sub>3</sub> (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON). Additional 50 mL samples were filtered (0.45 um HT tuffryn, Pall, Ann Arbor, MI) and analyzed for DOC. The DOM samples were not acidified for analysis.

*H. azteca* that were analyzed for bioaccumulation were dried, weighed, and digested to measure accumulation. Organisms were removed from exposure with a disposable pipette, transferred briefly into deionized water, and then blotted on a kimwipe to remove excess moisture. *Hyalella* were collected at day 0 and day 28 so that growth effects can be compared between the time points. The organisms were placed in individual 0.6 mL tubes and dried at 80°C (Isotemp500 series, Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) for 48 hrs. Each organism was weighed to the nearest 0.1  $\mu$ g (SE2 Ultra Micro Balance, Sartorius Mechantronics Corp., Bohemia, NY) and placed back into its individual tube for digestion. The protocol for digestion followed Neumann et al. (1999), beginning with the addition of 25  $\mu$ L of 16N HNO<sub>3</sub> (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON). After 6 days at room temperature, 20  $\mu$ L of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Sigma-

Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) was added and after 24 hrs, solutions were brought up the final volume of 250  $\mu$ L with the addition of deionized water (18m $\Omega$  cm; MilliQ A10 Millipore, Mississauga, ON). The digested samples were analyzed for Ni content.

## 3.2.6 Sample analysis

All water and organism samples were measured for Ni using graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS SpectraAA 880 GTA 100 atomizer, Varian, Mississauga, ON). Both unfiltered and filtered water samples are measured for total and dissolved Ni, respectively. Additional measurements were performed on water samples for Ca with AAS on flame mode. Standards were made from NiCl<sub>2</sub>•6H<sub>2</sub>O for Ni and CaCl<sub>2</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O for Ca (Sigma-Aldrich Inc. Mississauga, ON) and verified with a reference standard (TM-26.3, National Water Research Institute, Burlington, ON).

DOM concentrations, measured as DOC, were measured using a total organic carbon analyzer (TOC-V with ASI-V autosampler, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON). The DOM stock solutions were analyzed at the beginning of each test for DOC concentrations. DOC was measured for all series to ensure consistency between exposures so that these series could be compared. All stock solutions were measured for DOM at the time of every water renewal due to the possibility of increasing DOM amounts while stored in a 10 L carboy for 28 days.

## 3.2.7 Optical characterization

The two DOM sources were analyzed for optical characteristics, specifically SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI values, HA-like content, and FA-like content via EEMS and PARAFAC. SAC<sub>340</sub> values were

measured and analyzed (Christine Geiger, York University, ON) following the method of Al-Reasi et al. (2012) using the equation provided by Curtis and Schindler (1997):

$$SAC_{340} = [2303 \times (Abs340)] / DOC$$
 Equation 1

where Abs340 is the absorbance value at 340nm and DOC represents the concentration of DOM used for measurements. All DOM samples were increased to pH 7 by adding 0.1 mM of NaOH then diluted to a concentration of 10 mg DOC/L with MilliQ filtered water ( $18m\Omega.cm$ ; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON) before analysis. These samples were then placed in a 1 cm quartz cell (Helma Canada Ltd. Concord, On, Canada) and measured three times. Measuring the absorbance of MilliQ filtered water ( $18m\Omega.cm$ ; MilliQ A10, Millipore, Mississauga, ON) was used as the blank (reference standard). A correlation of SAC<sub>340</sub> values and measured LC<sub>50</sub> values will be made to determine if absorbance coefficients can explain differences in protective effects from chronic Ni toxicity.

FI was conducted (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University, ON) following the methods of Gheorghiu et al. (2010) and was calculated via (McKnight et al., 2001):

$$FI = (370:450)/(370:500)$$
 Equation 2

where FI is the ratio of intensities at 370:450 and 370:500 (excitation : emission wavelengths in nm). Measurements were taken at 5 mg DOC/L. DOM samples were also analyzed for HA-like and FA-like components using EEMS and PARAFAC producing three-dimensional contour plots that identify different components found within DOM including HA-like and FA-like content

(Smith and Kramer, 1999).

#### 3.2.8 Calculations and statistical analysis

Survival and growth (28 day dry weight basis) data from chronic toxicity tests were used to calculate  $LC_{50}$ ,  $EC_{20}$  (effect where 20% reduction in growth is observed), and  $EC_{50}$  values (effect where 50% reduction in growth is observed) by means of the Comprehensive Environmental Toxicity Information System (CETIS v.6.0, Tidepool Scientific Software) and this was done on a total and dissolved Ni basis. The Spearman-Karber statistical test was used to determine the median  $LC_{50}$  estimate. Significant differences in  $LC_{50}$ s were compared by using the 95% CI overlaps and if overlaps were present, a statistical method developed by Litchfield and Wilcoxon (1938) as described by Gillis et al. (2010) was used.

Ni bioaccumulation is assessed on a whole body dry weight basis. Whole body Ni concentrations were expressed as  $\mu g$  Ni/ g dry weight and differences among treatment groups were tested by one-way ANOVA followed, when appropriate, with the Fischer LSD test using Sigmaplot<sup>TM</sup> (v. 11), a scientific data analysis and graphing software.

#### 3.3 Results

## 3.3.1 Water chemistry

Water chemistry was measured for Ni ( $\mu$ g/L), Ca (mM), and DOC (mg/L) when necessary. Unfiltered and filtered water samples were analyzed for total Ni and dissolved Ni,

respectively. Dissolved Ni concentrations were calculated to be  $100 \pm 8$  % (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 250) of total Ni and therefore all Ni concentrations reported will be on the total Ni basis. Ni concentrations at day 28 were calculated to be 92.9  $\pm$  6% (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 250) of day 0 Ni concentrations. Weekly variation of total Ni, dissolved Ni and DOC concentrations were measured. To account for any differences between weeks during exposure, a paired t-test was performed between initial (start of the week) and final (end of the week) total Ni, dissolved Ni, and DOC concentrations where no significant difference was observed (t = -0.828, P = 0.416; t = 1.317, P = 0.201; t = -0.232, P = 0.819, respectively) (Table 3.3). Variability of Ni concentrations within replicates was 2.00  $\pm$  0.11 % (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 100). Ca and DOC concentrations consistent across replicates and series (Table 3.1). DOC concentrations in DOM series were measured to be higher than the intended nominal concentration of 6 mg DOC/L. These concentrations were not corrected due to the amount of DOC available for testing. Background DOC levels were measured to be 0.45  $\pm$  0.07 mg DOC/L (n = 148) in the Ca series (Table 3.1).

In the culture medium for chronic exposures, 80.1% of total Ni is calculated to be free  $Ni^{2+}$  ion by the Windermere Humic Aqueous Model (WHAM, ver.7.0.2) at the measured  $LC_{50}$  value. Other Ni species were predicted to be 7.7%, 0.4%, and 3.6% for NiHCO<sub>3</sub>, NiSO<sub>4</sub>, and NiCO<sub>3</sub> respectively. The BLM on the other hand predicted the culture medium to be 73.8%  $Ni^{2+}$  ion where other Ni species were predicted to be 7.2%, 0.3%, and 1.6% for NiHCO<sub>3</sub>, NiSO<sub>4</sub>, and NiCO<sub>3</sub>, respectively. Ni species in solution were compared between the two models where the BLM predicted about 9% less of these specific species in solution than WHAM. The BLM also predicted less free Ni<sup>2+</sup> ion by 6.3% than WHAM.

## 3.3.2 Survival

The LC<sub>50</sub> value for the chronic (28 d) effect of Ni only (without modifying factors) was  $13.83 \pm 2.61 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  (Fig 3.1). When 1 mM Ca was added, the LC<sub>50</sub> value significantly increased to  $27.74 \pm 6.32 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  (Fig 3.1). A similar protective effect was observed with the addition of Plastic Lake DOM at a LC<sub>50</sub> value of  $28.59 \pm 3.23 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  (Fig 3.1). When the DOM source changed to Daisy Lake, a greater protective effect (6.5-fold increase of Ni only LC<sub>50</sub> compared to Plastic Lake DOM) was observed where the LC<sub>50</sub> value increased to  $91.34 \pm 10.53 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  (Fig 3.1). Day 10 LC<sub>50</sub> values are also calculated and compared to day 28. A 2-fold increase in LC<sub>50</sub> values at day 10 was observed when compared to day 28 although similar trends are observed (Fig 3.1).

## 3.3.3 Growth effects and changes in dry weight

The dry weights between controls (without modifying factors; nominal Ni concentration of 0  $\mu$ g Ni/L) had little variation between treatments (0.12  $\pm$  0.02 g to 0.26  $\pm$  0.02 g (mean  $\pm$ SEM), averages of Daisy Lake DOM series (unmodified) and Ca series (unmodified) respectively; Table 3.2). The largest variation in dry weight is observed in controls when only modifying factors are added. When Ca (1 mM) was added, dry weights significantly decreased by a factor of 2 when compared to control medium with no added Ca (averages of 'unmodified' vs. Ca (1 mM) at 0  $\mu$ g Ni/L; Table 3.2b). In addition to differences in dry weight, survival also decreased from 90% to 53% at day 28 when comparing no added Ca and the addition of 1 mM Ca, respectively (averages of 'unmodified' vs. Ca (1mM) at 0  $\mu$ g Ni/L; Table 3.2b).With the addition of Plastic Lake (PL) DOM, dry weights did not change significantly when compared to the control with no added DOM (averages of 'unmodified' vs. DOM (PL) at 0  $\mu$ g Ni/L; Table 3.2c) while the addition of Daisy Lake (DL) DOM increased dry weights by a factor of 1.5 compared to the controls with no added modifying factor (averages of 'unmodified' vs. DOM (DL) at  $0 \mu g$  Ni/L; Table 3.2d).

Dry weights of *Hyalella* decreased as Ni concentrations increased (Fig 3.2). The addition of Ca only (1 mM) caused the dry weight of the organisms to decrease 50% which can be correlated with a decrease of survival to 53% (Fig 3.2). Furthermore, low concentrations of Ni (up to 10  $\mu$ g/L) caused an increase (to 100%) in dry weights in the Ca series (Fig 3.2). When Ni concentrations reached above 10  $\mu$ g/L, survival and dry weight decreased (Fig 3.2 and Table 3.1b). The addition of Ni to the PL series increased dry weight when compared to the Ni only exposure (Fig 3.2). The pattern of growth in the DL series was similar to the PL series and Ni only series as well (Fig 3.2).

Protective growth effects were observed when modifying factors were added (Ca and DOM) (Fig 3.3). The EC<sub>20</sub> varied between  $1.4 \pm 0 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  and  $50.1 \pm 0 \ \mu g \ Ni/L (\pm 95\% \ CI)$  with the lowest value representing the Ni only series (no added modifying factors) and the highest value representing the Ca series (addition of 1 mM Ca) (Fig 3.3). The addition of Ca (1 mM) increased protection by 8-fold compared to the Ni only exposure (Fig 3.3). The trend observed between the two DOM sources in survival were also observed in growth where DL DOM provided 3-times more protection than PL DOM (Fig 3.3).

## 3.3.4 Bioaccumulation

Ni accumulation patterns in surviving *Hyalella* at day 28 in all series did not show any significant difference (Fig 3.4). Each series did show varying accumulation patterns despite no significant difference. In the Ni only series, a slight increase in accumulation was associated with
the increase of Ni concentration (accumulation ranged from  $9.0 \pm 0.75 \ \mu g \ Ni/ g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 25) to 17.56  $\pm$  3.10  $\mu g \ Ni/ g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 7); concentration of 0 to 20  $\mu g \ Ni/L$ , respectively) (Fig 3.4). Prolonged exposure to Ni with 1 mM of Ca resulted in a plateau across Ni concentrations (19.53  $\pm$  2.31  $\mu g \ Ni/ g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 27) to 28.27  $\pm$  4.81  $\mu g \ Ni/ g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 2); concentration of 0 to 80  $\mu g \ Ni/L$ , respectively) (Fig 3.4). Similar to the Ni only series, the addition of DOM (both sources) caused a slight increase in Ni accumulation across increasing Ni concentrations as well (Fig 3.4). Although both DOM sources show similar patterns, more metal accumulation was observed in Plastic Lake than Daisy Lake (e.g., 29.96  $\pm$  4.96  $\mu g \ Ni/g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5) and 15.37  $\pm$  1.15  $\mu g \ Ni/g \ dry$  weight (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 27), respectively at 40  $\mu g \ Ni/L$ ) (Fig 3.4).

#### 3.3.5 Optical characteristics

Optical characteristics (i.e.,  $SAC_{340}$ , FI, HA-like and FA-like components) were measured in both DOM sources.  $SAC_{340}$  values were calculated (Christine Geiger, York University, ON) and were compared to the observed  $LC_{50}$  values. A correlation between  $SAC_{340}$  values and  $LC_{50}$ values was observed for the two sources. Unfortunately, no definitive trends can be established since only two sources were tested in this chronic study. On the other hand,  $LC_{50}$  values did not correlate with measured FI values (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University, ON). PARAFAC analysis was performed on the two DOM sources (Kelly Livingstone, Wilfrid Laurier University) where HA-like and FA-like components were identified and correlations to the measured acute  $LC_{50}$  values were made. Similar to FI values, no significant correlations with  $LC_{50}$  values were demonstrated with HA-like as well as FA-like components.

## 3.4 Discussion

In this chronic study, both Ca and DOM provided protection against Ni toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* and this was noted for both survival and growth (Fig 3.1 and 3.3). The protective effect of Ca varied between endpoints, providing an 8-fold increase in protection (1 mM compared to 0.1 mM Ca) for growth compared to a 2-fold protection for survival. The addition of DOM (at a measured concentration of 9 mg DOC/L) demonstrated protective effects from Ni toxicity where the same magnitude of protection was observed in both growth and survival (Fig 3.1 and Fig 3.3). Differences between DOM sources were observed where Daisy Lake provided more protection than Plastic Lake (Fig. 3.1 and Fig 3.3). The addition of 1 mM Ca on its own acted as a stressor and resulted in poor growth and survival (50% reduction from controls) while the addition of Daisy Lake DOM on its own caused dry weight to increase 140% compared to controls without modifying factors or Ni (Fig 3.2). Toxic effects induced by the Ni only exposure could not be correlated with bioaccumulation (Fig 3.4).

The chronic effects of Ni toxicity are not extensively studied although Ni does induce physiological disruptions. Details surrounding the mechanisms of Ni-induced-effects are not well understood but elevated concentrations of Ni (2 mg Ni/L for over a month) act as a respiratory toxicant to rainbow trout causing a decrease in oxygen tension in the arteries, resulting in high carbon dioxide tension that eventually leads to respiratory acidosis (Pane et al., 2004). Ni is also known to be responsible for physiological effects related to a gas exchange deficiency in *Daphnia magna* (Pane et al., 2003b). These effects were determined through a reduction in swimming activity where *D. magna*, chronically exposed (14-d) to 130  $\mu$ g Ni/L, were less mobile and slower compared to controls (Pane et al., 2003a). This impairment could have been

caused by an effect at the gill surface, directly limiting oxygen uptake causing abnormalities in metabolism which affects oxygen delivery and the internal use of oxygen (Pane et al., 2003a).

The sensitivity of *Hyalella azteca* to Ni increased dramatically in chronic exposures compared to acute exposures (LC<sub>50</sub> values of 0.70  $\pm$  0.10 mg Ni/L and 13.8  $\pm$  2.61 µg Ni/L, respectively). In the Pane et al. (2003a) study, EC<sub>50</sub> values were not calculated but the concentration associated with sub-lethal effects, 130 µg Ni/L (see above), could induce mortalities in our study conditions. However the Pane study (2003a) was in much harder water (120 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L) and therefore, it cannot be definitively concluded if *Hyalella azteca* and *Daphnia magna* are similar in their sensitivity to chronic Ni exposure. However, the 28-d LC<sub>50</sub> value for the Ni only exposure (no added modifying factors) in our study was 13.8  $\pm$  2.61 µg Ni/L (Fig 3.1) and was comparable to the Schroeder et al. (2010) study where the 28-d LC<sub>50</sub> value in a low hardness media (prepared as a mixture of deionized and dechlorinated water) was 0.3 µM Ni/L (17.6 µg Ni/L). *Hyalella* are very sensitive to the chronic effects of Ni based on the measured chronic LC<sub>50</sub> value since the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) water quality guideline for the protection of aquatic life is 25 µg Ni/L in very soft water.

A change in water chemistry (the addition of cations or organic matter) has been demonstrated to protect an organism from metal toxicity (Di Toro et al., 2001, Kozlova et al., 2009, Schroeder et al., 2010). The addition of Ca protected *Hyalella azteca* from the toxic effects of waterborne Ni in survival and growth (Fig 3.1 and 3.3) where an interaction between  $Ca^{2+}$  and Ni<sup>2+</sup> was observed. The high protective effect of  $Ca^{2+}$  is similar to the study of Schroeder et al. (2010) where Ca has a strong influence on Ni toxicity compared to other cations (e.g., Mg).

Since the addition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> protects against Ni toxicity, it was surprising to find that

exposures with added Ca alone (no Ni added) showed a negative effect compared to controls (no added Ni or Ca). Survival and dry weight of *Hyalella* at 28 d were both reduced in solutions with elevated Ca only (Fig 3.2). Interestingly, this Ca effect was eliminated with the addition of Ni at low concentrations (Fig 3.2). In general, Hyalella are well known as a species tolerant to elevated hardness waters (Environment Canada, 1997) but the mechanisms underlying this observed Ca effect are unknown. It is possible that Hyalella from Hannah Lake are physiologically unique in comparison to other sources of Hyalella. Organisms from Hannah Lake may be unable to tolerate elevated levels of Ca since Hannah Lake has been prone to high levels of Na and Cl relative to Ca but has recovered to a significant degree. Certainly, their ability to thrive in the soft waters used in this study sets them apart since the minimum hardness recommended in the standard method (Environment Canada, 1997) is 80 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L. It is also possible that the effects observed were related to a response to the change in Ca concentration rather than an innate inability to tolerate elevated Ca. Indeed, it was shown that an increase in waterborne Ca resulted in an inhibition of reproduction in Ceriodaphnia dubia (Schwartz et al. ,2007) but an understanding of the mitigation of this Ca impact by low concentrations of Ni is still lacking. Given that Ca appears to competitively reduce Ni uptake (observed as elevated  $LC_{50}$ ) and EC values) it seems reasonable to consider that low levels of Ni will competitively reduce Ca uptake which should occur if Ca and Ni share a similar site of uptake.

The chronic effects of Ca uptake are not well defined for invertebrates. The uptake of Ca to crustaceans is important since Ca is the main component of their carapace (Cameron and Wood, 1985). An enhanced ability to uptake Ca could be essential for crustaceans in very soft waters (Cameron and Wood, 1985). Since the uptake of Ca is important for survival, then perhaps an increase in the external concentration results in an overload of internal Ca. In other

words, an effort to avoid hypocalcemia in low hardness waters may result in hypercalcemia when waterborne Ca content is increased. The effects of hypercalcaemia are well defined in mammalian literature. Extremely high levels of Ca have been linked to symptoms of hypercalcaemia such as kidney failure as well as dysfunction within the gastrointestinal tract and central nervous system, deterioration of consciousness, and ultimately death (Coleman, 2001). It is unknown if similar effects could occur in hypercalcaemic invertebrates but these effects are worthy of further study.

In addition to the effects observed in the Ca series, the addition of DOM also demonstrated a protective effect where the presence of PL and DL DOM reduced chronic Ni toxicity (Fig 3.1 and 3.3). A similar effect of DOC on chronic toxicity was documented by De Schamphelaere and Janssen (2004) in *Daphnia magna* exposed to Cu. Interestingly, the two DOM sources in our study offered different protective effects where DL DOM offered more protection than PL DOM (Fig 3.1 and Fig 3.3). In addition to varying protective abilities, the effect of adding only DOM (no Ni added) also differed in dry weights between PL DOM and DL DOM (Fig 3.2). The addition of 9 mg DOC/L of DL DOM increased mean dry weight to 140% of controls while no difference in dry weight was observed with the addition of PL DOM (Fig 3.2). The mechanism underlying this effect caused by the addition of DL DOM is unknown and could be physiological (e.g., reducing osmoregulatory stress), nutritional (e.g., directly or via enhanced microbial availability) or possibly both. Clearly this illustrates that there are differences in DOM quality that may have important biological consequences beyond that of toxicity mitigation and is worthy of further research.

The protective effects observed with DL DOM in the chronic Ni exposure was greater than that of PL DOM. Varying degrees of toxic impacts among different DOM sources were also

66

observed by Kozlova et al. (2009) with D. pulex and Richards et al. (2001). However, the mentioned studies (Kozlova et al., 2009; Richards et al., 2001) are acute exposures and very few studies have analyzed DOM source differences for chronic toxicity. When acute and chronic studies were compared, there was an inverse relationship between the magnitude of protection of DOM sources. That is, DL DOM was less protective than PL DOM to acute Ni toxicity while DL DOM was more protective than PL DOM in chronic exposures. The difference in protective effects of DOM sources between acute and chronic exposures might be related to variations in the uptake and mechanisms of Ni toxicity (Heijerick et al., 2005; Adams et al., 2010). However, it is more likely that the results reflect differences among the DOM sources and their ability to complex with Ni. The binding sites on DOM are generally represented as a complex series of ligands with different affinities for metals at various concentrations. It can be predicted that different sources of DOM may have different binding capacities. Perhaps in comparison to PL DOM, DL DOM has more binding sites with higher affinities that strongly interact at relatively low concentrations of Ni (in the chronic toxicity range) and fewer low affinity binding sites that complex to Ni at higher concentrations (1-2 mg/L range). These characteristics can therefore influence the protective ability of the DOM source.

Clearly, the two DOM sources varied in their ability to interact with Ni<sup>2+</sup> based on their differences in protective effects (Fig 3.1 and Fig 3.3). For acute toxicity, it is generally observed that optical characteristics such as FI, HA-like and FA-like content and SAC<sub>340</sub>, (particularly the latter) can be correlated to metal toxicity mitigation and serve as a simple measure to account for DOM source quality (Ryan et al., 2004; Schwartz et al., 2004). However, these measures did not correlate to the protective capacity in the acute studies of Ni to *Hyalella* (see Chapter 2). While only two sources were compared in our chronic study, it is interesting to note that DL DOM,

which provided a greater protection, had a higher SAC<sub>340</sub> value than PL DOM (16.35 and 10.36, respectively) (see Chapter 2, Table 2.1). These findings are consistent with other general observations for other metals such as Cu (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Ryan et al., 2004) and Ag (VanGenderen et al., 2003). Unfortunately, the other optical characteristics (i.e., FI, HA-like and FA-like content) did not correlate with observed chronic protective effects.

Other than optical characteristics, bioaccumulation can also be correlated with protective effects. Unfortunately, no meaningful correlations for bioaccumulation (measured at 28 d) and chronic Ni toxicity were observed (Fig 3.4). Differences in toxicity endpoints (growth and survival) were not reflected by differences in Ni bioaccumulation. Exposure to Ni without modifying factors (Ca or DOM) resulted in higher toxicity but the bioaccumulation pattern was similar to other treatments (i.e., with modifying factors); an exposure-accumulation relationship was not observed (Fig 3.4). Unexpectedly, one of the most protective treatments (DL DOM) had the highest accumulation profile (Fig 3.4). Based on the BLM theory, a decrease in Ni bioaccumulation should occur due to competitive interactions between Ca and Ni and complexation of Ni by DOM (Kozlova et al., 2009; Clifford and McGeer, 2008; Keithly et al., 2004) but this did not occur. Other studies suggest that metal bioaccumulation is a better predictor of toxicity than metals in the exposure medium (either water or sediment, Borgmann et al., 1991, 1998, 2001) but deriving a threshold tissue concentration linked to an effect was not possible in this study. Once the metal accumulates in the organism, it can be transported (via body fluids) to various internal sites (e.g., reproductive organs, nervous tissue, excretory organs). This might explain the absence of variation of tissue burdens although toxicity mitigation did occur.

The lack of linkages between bioaccumulation and toxicity mitigating abilities in this

study was similar to the results of Richards et al. (2001) but the findings of our study differed from the Schroeder et al. (2010) study. Richards et al. (2001) demonstrated an effect similar to our study; DOM in the exposure medium did not alter the accumulation of metals (Cd, Ag, and Co) on the gills of rainbow trout. On the contrary, the addition of Ca both reduced chronic toxicity and resulted in less Ni accumulation in the Schroeder et al. (2010) study. The water hardness (120 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L) in the Schroeder et al. (2010) study may have influenced accumulation and therefore may account for the differences observed in accumulation patterns. As noted by Adams et al. (2010), the duration of exposure can also influence metal bioaccumulation patterns and alter residue-toxicity relationships therefore the differences may have occurred due to exposure duration; 28 d in this study and 7 d for Schroeder et al. (2010). It is possible that the extended duration of our study allowed organisms the time to develop physiological mechanisms that helped to eliminate accumulated Ni and/or reduce uptake (e.g., excretion). A study on the time course of chronic Ni accumulation could provide interesting insights that would contribute to the understanding of tissue burden to effect relationships.

**Table 3.1.** Water chemistry associated with Ni LC50 concentrations from 28d toxicity tests with *Hyalella azteca*. Measured LC50 values (LCL – UCL) were calculated from measured concentrations (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n)).

Series	Ca (mM)	Mg (mM)	рН	DOC (mg/L)	LC <sub>50</sub> (µg Ni/L)
Ca	0.10 ± 0.01 (100)	0.03 ± 0.002 (100)	7.11 ± 0.09 (50)	0.45 ± 0.07 (60)	22.13 (27.74 – 34.77)
Daisy Lake DOM	0.09 ± 0.01 (100)	0.03 ± 0.002 (100)	$7.12 \pm 0.09$ (50)	8.67 ± 0.48 (60)	91.34 (84.40 - 105.45)
Plastic Lake DOM	$0.10 \pm 0.01 (100)$	0.03 ± 0.002 (100)	$7.11 \pm 0.08$ (50)	9.37 ± 1.20 (60)	28.59 (25.54 - 32.00)

**Table 3.2** – Compiled data (% mortality, dry weight and bioaccumulation) of four chronic test treatments. Each treatment is separated into a sub-chart (a – unmodified (Ni only, no modifying factor added), b – Ca series, c – Plastic Lake DOM series, d – Daisy Lake DOM series). Data includes percent mortality for day 10 and 28 shown as individual replicates (3 replicates per concentration). Dry weight (mean  $\pm$  standard error (n)) for each replicate is shown. Bioaccumulation (mean  $\pm$  standard error (n)) is shown as  $\mu g$  Ni/g dry weight.

a)						
Tre	eatment	Mortality (%)				
Test media	Ni conc. (µg/L)	replicate	D10	D28	Dry weight (g)	µg Ni/g dw
	0.31 ± 0.03 (26)	1	10	10	0.17 ± 0.07 (9)	
	0.34 ± 0.02 (26)	2	20	20	0.12 ± 0.06 (8)	13.43 ± 22.91 (26)
	0.32 ± 0.05 (26)	3	10	10	0.10 ± 0.05 (9)	
	5.24 ± 0.81 (26)	1	10	20	0.09 ± 0.07 (8)	
	5.36 ± 0.76 (26)	2	10	10	0.07 ± 0.04 (9)	11.38 ± 7.51 (24)
	5.31 ± 0.89 (26)	3	20	30	0.06 ± 0.02 (7)	
	10.19 ± 1.84 (26)	1	30	40	0.08 ± 0.05 (6)	
	10.16 ± 1.73 (26)	2	20	40	0.10 ± 0.04 (6)	8.82 ± 3.47 (19)
	10.13 ± 1.65 (26)	3	30	30	0.06 ± 0.02 (7)	
	21.62 ± 1.28 (26)	1	50	80	0.04 ± 0.03 (2)	
	21.43 ± 1.38 (26)	2	60	90	0.04 (1)	17.56 ± 8.20 (7)
unmodified	20.97 ± 1.53 (26)	3	50	60	0.05 ± 0.03 (4)	
	44.71 ± 2.97 (26)	1	70	100	n/a	
	43.69 ± 3.14 (26)	2	20	100	n/a	0
	43.42 ± 2.85 (26)	3	70	100	n/a	
	82.27 ± 10.74 (26)	1	100	100	n/a	
	82.45 ± 10.69 (26)	2	80	100	n/a	0
	83.17 ± 10.37 (26)	3	90	100	n/a	
	165.84 ± 23.65 (26)	1	90	100	n/a	
	164.92 ± 22.11 (26)	2	100	100	n/a	0
	166.55 ± 23.28 (26)	3	90	100	n/a	
	316.18 ± 13.96 (26)	1	100	100	n/a	
	318.71 ± 15.27 (26)	2	80	100	n/a	0
	323.77 ± 16.33 (26)	3	100	100	n/a	

Treatr	Treatment		ality (%	)		
Test media	Ni conc. (µg/L)	replicate	D10	D28	Dry weight (g)	µg Ni∕g dw
	0.32 ± 0.02 (26)	1	10	10	0.19 ± 0.10 (9)	
unmodified	0.34 ± 0.02 (26)	2	10	20	0.12 ± 0.06 (8)	19.52 ± 12.00 (27)
	0.31 ± 0.05 (26)	3	0	0	0.06 ± 0.02 (10)	
	0.31 ± 0.03 (26)	1	50	50	0.06 ± 0.02 (5)	
	0.29 ± 0.04 (26)	2	30	50	0.06 ± 0.04 (5)	19.06 ± 15.93 (16)
	0.32 ± 0.02 (26)	3	20	40	0.06 ± 0.03 (6)	
	5.27 ± 0.71 (26)	1	30	40	0.12 ± 0.03 (6)	
	5.29 ± 0.86 (26)	2	10	30	0.17 ± 0.05 (7)	13.09 ± 8.07 (22)
	5.31 ± 0.69 (26)	3	10	10	0.10 ± 0.03 (9)	-
	10.17 ± 1.92 (26)	1	10	20	0.12 ± 0.05 (8)	
	10.14 ± 1.65 (26)	2	20	20	0.15 ± 0.04 (8)	14.8 ± 9.85 (25)
	10.21 ± 2.06 (26)	3	10	10	0.15 ± 0.07 (9)	-
	21.83 ± 1.22 (26)	1	20	30	0.13 ± 0.05 (7)	
	21.25 ± 1.36 (26)	2	30	40	0.09 ± 0.04 (6)	12.17 ± 11.63 (19)
Ca (1mM)	20.99 ± 1.34 (26)	3	30	40	0.13 ± 0.06 (6)	
	43.73 ± 3.12 (26)	1	30	60	0.10 ± 0.05 (4)	
	44.82 ± 3.63 (26)	2	50	70	0.04 ± 0.01 (3)	8.24 ± 13.31 (8)
	42.96 ± 3.58 (26)	3	70	90	0.08 (1)	
	82.79 ± 10.63 (26)	1	50	90	0.03 (1)	
	83.12 ± 11.20 (26)	2	50	100	n/a	16.99 ± 23.55 (2)
	83.09 ± 10.96 (26)	3	60	90	0.09 (1)	
	163.48 ± 22.88 (26)	1	100	100	n/a	
	165.21 ± 23.65 (26)	2	90	100	n/a	0
	162.94 ± 23.82 (26)	3	100	100	n/a	-
	317.46 ± 13.77 (26)	1	100	100	n/a	
	319.10 ± 14.46 (26)	2	100	100	n/a	0
	320.55 ± 15.83 (26)	3	100	100	n/a	

c)						
Trea	atment	Morta	ality (%)	)		
Test media	Ni conc. (µg/L)	Replicate	D10	D28	Dry weight (g)	µg Ni/g dw
	0.31 ± 0.03 (26)	1	20	20	0.14 ± 0.10 (8)	
unmodified	0.33 ± 0.01 (26)	2	0	0	0.25 ± 0.16 (10)	10.62 ± 2.99 (27)
	0.31 ± 0.04 (26)	3	10	10	0.18 ± 0.06 (9)	
	0.32 ± 0.03 (26)	1	10	10	0.24 ± 0.11 (9)	
	0.33 ± 0.02 (26)	2	20	20	0.19 ± 0.10 (8)	13.98 ± 4.33 (26)
	0.31 ± 0.02 (26)	3	10	10	0.12 ± 0.09 (9)	
	11.02 ± 1.77 (26)	1	30	50	0.09 ± 0.08 (5)	
	10.24 ± 1.89 (26)	2	40	40	0.11 ± 0.09 (6)	31.01 ± 10.50 (20)
	10.59 ± 2.23 (26)	3	10	10	0.23 ± 0.10 (9)	
	20.76 ± 1.49 (26)	1	20	30	0.10 ± 0.09 (7)	
	21.12 ± 1.98 (26)	2	10	10	0.13 ± 0.10 (9)	23.06 ± 7.50 (25)
DOM (PL)	20.85 ± 2.35 (26)	3	10	10	0.15 ± 0.06 (9)	
	42.98 ± 2.9 (26)	1	30	100	n/a	
	43.21 ± 3.14 (26)	2	30	80	0.05 ± 0.01 (2)	29.94 ± 11.10 (5)
	43.17 ± 2.57 (26)	3	50	70	0.25 ± 0.16 (3)	
	83.22 ± 11.34 (26)	1	50	100	n/a	
	82.61 ± 10.82 (26)	2	70	100	n/a	0
	83.29 ± 11.25 (26)	3	90	100	n/a	
	163.42 ± 22.35 (26)	1	100	100	n/a	
	162.60 ± 21.79 (26)	2	100	100	n/a	0
	162.65 ± 22.46 (26)	3	100	100	n/a	

d)

Treatr	Mortality (%)						
Test media	Ni conc. (µg/L)	Replicate	D10	D28	Dry weight (g)	µg Ni/g dw	
	0.40 ± 0.02 (26)	1	10	10	0.23 ± 0.07 (9)		
unmodified	0.32 ± 0.03 (26)	2	10	20	0.35 ± 0.14 (8)	2.93 ± 1.47 (25)	
	0.36 ± 0.02 (26)	3	20	20	0.24 ± 0.07 (8)		
	0.35 ± 0.04 (26)	1	10	10	0.46 ± 0.19 (9)		
	0.31 ± 0.03 (26)	2	0	0	0.30 ± 0.12 (10)	9.84 ± 2.74 (27)	
	0.33 ± 0.03 (26)	3	10	20	0.40 ± 0.12 (8)		
	10.38 ± 2.04 (26)	1	10	20	0.33 ± 0.12 (8)		
	11.02 ± 1.75 (26)	2	10	10	0.37 ± 0.15 (9)	12.02 ± 3.89 (25)	
	10.24 ± 1.32 (26)	3	10	20	0.33 ± 0.10 (8)		
	21.52 ± 1.22 (26)	1	0	0	0.29 ± 0.10 (10)		
	21.14 ± 1.16 (26)	2	10	30	0.39 ± 0.11 (7)	15.72 ± 4.34 (26)	
DOM (DL)	20.94 ± 1.73 (26)	3	0	10	0.40 ± 0.12 (9)		
	42.67 ± 2.85 (26)	1	0	10	0.26 ± 0.12 (9)		
	43.15 ± 3.02 (26)	2	10	10	0.15 ± 0.04 (9)	15.37 ± 5.97 (27)	
	43.20 ± 2.92 (26)	3	10	10	0.14 ± 0.10 (9)		
	82.49 ± 10.69 (26)	1	10	40	0.13 ± 0.06 (6)		
	83.41 ± 11.47 (26)		20	40	0.10 ± 0.07 (6)	30.82 ± 5.65 (19)	
	83.14 ± 10.73 (26)	3	10	30	0.13 ± 0.04 (7)		
	162.55 ± 24.56 (26)	1	70	100	n/a		
	161.99 ± 22.32 (26)	2	50	100	n/a	0	
	164.03 ± 22.94 (26)	3	50	100	n/a		

**Table 3.3.** Measured initial and final total and dissolved Ni as well as DOC concentrations (mean  $\pm$  SEM) where n = 4. Tables are divided into 4 sub-tables (a – Ni only, b – Ca, c – PL, d – DL). NC represents nominal concentrations of Ni. Paired t-tests were performed and no significant differences were observed between initial and final concentrations of total, dissolved and DOC concentrations.

a)								
		wk	tota	l Ni	dissolv	ved Ni	DO	DC
Series	NC	#	Initial	final	initial	final	initial	final
Ni	0	1	$0.34\pm0.09$	$0.39\pm0.10$	$0.33\pm0.07$	$0.36\pm0.08$	$0.44\pm0.15$	$0.41\pm0.08$
111		2	$0.27\pm0.04$	$0.29\pm0.08$	$0.25\pm0.03$	$0.24\pm0.04$	$0.60\pm0.11$	$0.54\pm0.13$
		3	$0.29\pm0.09$	$0.34\pm0.03$	$0.27\pm0.09$	$0.29\pm0.07$	$0.50\pm0.10$	$0.52\pm0.09$
		4	$0.54\pm0.12$	$0.25\pm0.12$	$0.51\pm0.13$	$0.46\pm0.10$	$0.32\pm0.09$	$0.37\pm0.11$
	5	1	$5.32\pm0.40$	$5.44\pm0.80$	$5.30\pm0.35$	$5.30\pm0.78$	$0.37\pm0.09$	$0.39\pm0.10$
		2	$4.89\pm0.26$	$4.24\pm0.11$	$4.86\pm0.27$	$4.68\pm0.23$	$0.61\pm0.12$	$0.35\pm0.13$
		3	$5.10\pm0.26$	$5.40\pm0.07$	$5.07\pm0.22$	$5.35\pm0.09$	$0.40\pm0.08$	$0.54\pm0.04$
		4	$5.46\pm0.47$	$5.51\pm0.62$	$6.36\pm0.40$	$6.24\pm0.61$	$0.68\pm0.14$	$0.58\pm0.09$
	10	1	$11.25\pm0.48$	$11.13\pm0.51$	$11.21\pm0.43$	$11.11\pm0.78$	$0.68\pm0.14$	$0.51\pm0.07$
		2	$9.26\pm0.12$	$9.54\pm0.31$	$9.24\pm0.10$	$9.32\pm0.53$	$0.44\pm0.11$	$0.44\pm0.09$
		3	$11.00\pm0.95$	$10.94\pm0.59$	$11.01\pm0.91$	$10.45\pm0.24$	$0.92\pm0.07$	$0.78\pm0.10$
		4	$11.60 \pm 1.44$	$11.35\pm2.14$	$11.53 \pm 1.33$	$11.51\pm2.02$	$0.26\pm0.12$	$0.32\pm0.08$
	20	1	$22.08 \pm 1.11$	$23.68 \pm 0.21$	$22.01 \pm 1.14$	$22.86 \pm 0.53$	$0.48\pm0.15$	$0.39\pm0.13$
		2	$23.31\pm0.22$	$21.56\pm0.40$	$23.34\pm0.19$	$22.22\pm0.23$	$0.65\pm0.04$	$0.57\pm0.12$
		3	$21.02\pm0.09$	$20.95 \pm 1.56$	$24.05\pm0.03$	$23.45 \pm 1.31$	$0.49\pm0.08$	$0.45\pm0.06$
		4	$21.31 \pm 1.54$	$22.99 \pm 0.93$	$21.23 \pm 1.24$	$21.55\pm0.76$	$0.35\pm0.13$	$0.48\pm0.11$
	40	1	$38.42\pm0.68$	$38.88 \pm 0.77$	$39.12\pm0.65$	$37.76 \pm 0.52$	$0.20\pm0.10$	$0.21\pm0.08$
		2	$42.75\pm0.64$	$40.50\pm0.11$	$42.63\pm0.64$	$40.43\pm0.14$	$0.54\pm0.09$	$0.52\pm0.12$
		3	$40.36 \pm 1.32$	$41.10\pm2.14$	$40.31 \pm 1.23$	$40.06 \pm 1.84$	$0.62\pm0.06$	$0.61\pm0.09$
		4	$38.79 \pm 0.70$	$39.60 \pm 1.02$	$38.99 \pm 0.73$	$38.70\pm0.79$	$0.55\pm0.08$	$0.47\pm0.09$
	80	1	$77.14 \pm 1.47$	$78.13 \pm 0.91$	$78.53 \pm 1.32$	$78.63 \pm 0.99$	$0.44\pm0.12$	$0.33\pm0.10$
		2	$80.74 \pm 2.09$	$80.55\pm0.25$	$80.36\pm2.01$	$80.32\pm0.27$	$0.60\pm0.05$	$0.45\pm0.13$
		3	$82.08 \pm 1.11$	$80.71\pm0.33$	$81.62 \pm 1.06$	$79.94\pm0.88$	$0.90\pm0.17$	$0.82\pm0.11$
		4	$81.65 \pm 2.44$	$82.75 \pm 1.48$	$81.18 \pm 2.22$	$81.66 \pm 1.35$	$0.79\pm0.10$	$0.68\pm0.09$
	160	1	$165.67\pm2.11$	$162.55\pm0.70$	$162.76\pm1.97$	$161.34 \pm 1.46$	$0.64\pm0.09$	$0.51\pm0.08$
		2	$162.75\pm2.55$	$162.14\pm0.39$	$163.24\pm2.32$	$161.12\pm1.28$	$0.54\pm0.10$	$0.54\pm0.13$
		3	$159.45\pm0.99$	$157.61\pm3.46$	$159.75\pm0.72$	$159.23\pm0.85$	$0.51\pm0.06$	$0.52\pm0.08$
		4	$159.34 \pm 3.11$	$157.59\pm2.54$	$160.53 \pm 2.15$	$158.67\pm2.00$	$0.31 \pm 0.07$	$0.27 \pm 0.03$
	320	1	$318.27\pm6.87$	$325.78\pm3.34$	$319.57\pm10.82$	$320.73 \pm 4.62$	$0.57\pm0.11$	$0.48\pm0.10$
		2	$322.69 \pm 1.53$	$322.67 \pm 1.39$	$32\overline{0.98 \pm 1.41}$	$32\overline{1.58 \pm 1.03}$	$0.\overline{49\pm0.04}$	$0.\overline{45\pm0.08}$
		3	$32\overline{1.44} \pm 2.75$	$32\overline{1.91} \pm 1.51$	$32\overline{1.28 \pm 2.35}$	$32\overline{2.63 \pm 1.22}$	$0.\overline{78\pm0.23}$	$0.\overline{64\pm0.07}$
		4	$32\overline{1.62 \pm 2.70}$	$322.39 \pm 1.24$	$318.82 \pm 2.43$	$320.15 \pm 1.01$	$0.\overline{21\pm0.02}$	$0.\overline{28\pm0.06}$

b)

		wk	total Ni		dissol	ved Ni	DOC	
Series	NC	#	initial	final	initial	final	initial	final
	0	1	$0.61\pm0.15$	$0.57\pm0.10$	$0.51\pm0.23$	$0.46\pm0.08$	$0.54\pm0.04$	$0.49\pm0.08$
Ca	-	2	$0.51 \pm 0.09$	$0.44 \pm 0.25$	$0.47\pm0.08$	$0.46 \pm 0.12$	$0.58\pm0.09$	$0.52\pm0.04$
Ca		3	$0.48 \pm 0.10$	$0.33 \pm 0.16$	$0.49 \pm 0.13$	$0.42 \pm 0.11$	$0.61 \pm 0.11$	$0.60 \pm 0.08$
		4	$0.79\pm0.05$	$0.62 \pm 0.12$	$0.59\pm0.06$	$0.58 \pm 0.13$	$0.58\pm0.06$	$0.43\pm0.07$
	0	1	$0.21\pm0.09$	$0.47\pm0.16$	$0.20 \pm 0.07$	$0.33\pm0.07$	$0.41 \pm 0.09$	$0.38\pm0.10$
		2	$0.57\pm0.19$	$0.40 \pm 0.01$	$0.37\pm0.16$	$0.34\pm0.04$	$0.47\pm0.13$	$0.43\pm0.11$
		3	$0.35\pm0.05$	$0.42\pm0.19$	$0.32\pm0.07$	$0.45\pm0.01$	$0.37\pm0.07$	$0.39\pm0.09$
		4	$0.40\pm0.22$	$0.30\pm0.12$	$0.43\pm0.17$	$0.34\pm0.13$	$0.41 \pm 0.02$	$0.46\pm0.12$
	5	1	$5.77\pm0.55$	$6.56\pm0.31$	$5.72\pm0.47$	$6.20\pm0.43$	$0.44 \pm 0.13$	$0.32\pm0.05$
		2	$5.29 \pm 0.24$	$5.33\pm0.06$	$5.14 \pm 0.22$	$5.22\pm0.17$	$0.43\pm0.07$	$0.29\pm0.03$
		3	$5.83 \pm 0.46$	$5.15\pm0.86$	$5.69 \pm 0.37$	$5.77\pm0.93$	$0.48\pm0.13$	$0.51\pm0.12$
		4	$5.62\pm0.06$	$5.29\pm0.30$	$5.49\pm0.09$	$5.34 \pm 0.29$	$0.56\pm0.07$	$0.52\pm0.04$
	10	1	$11.31\pm0.69$	$11.48\pm0.75$	$11.25\pm0.73$	$11.21\pm0.82$	$0.34\pm0.06$	$0.38\pm0.07$
		2	$11.65\pm0.69$	$10.28\pm0.63$	$11.72\pm0.84$	$10.88\pm0.47$	$0.33\pm0.12$	$0.39\pm0.10$
		3	$11.10\pm0.87$	$10.17\pm0.35$	$11.01\pm0.47$	$10.63 \pm 1.02$	$0.32\pm0.10$	$0.28\pm0.08$
		4	$10.32\pm0.65$	$11.03\pm0.24$	$10.07\pm0.48$	$10.86\pm0.51$	$0.32\pm0.15$	$0.35\pm0.13$
	20	1	$22.53 \pm 0.90$	$22.07 \pm 1.61$	$22.51\pm0.62$	$22.24 \pm 1.53$	$0.65\pm0.11$	$0.58\pm0.09$
		2	$22.72\pm0.49$	$22.27\pm0.07$	$22.39\pm0.24$	$22.11\pm0.09$	$0.81\pm0.08$	$0.73\pm0.14$
		3	$23.13\pm0.22$	$23.07\pm0.28$	$21.72\pm0.13$	$22.43\pm0.62$	$0.43\pm0.17$	$0.36\pm0.11$
		4	$21.57\pm0.22$	$22.08 \pm 1.40$	$21.23\pm0.18$	$21.08 \pm 1.46$	$0.81\pm0.09$	$0.69\pm0.12$
	40	1	$40.16 \pm 1.47$	$39.63 \pm 1.83$	$40.31 \pm 1.24$	$39.53 \pm 1.33$	$0.41\pm0.08$	$0.34\pm0.09$
		2	$42.33 \pm 1.25$	$39.68 \pm 2.09$	$41.27 \pm 1.06$	$40.48 \pm 1.88$	$0.53\pm0.14$	$0.49\pm0.14$
		3	$37.78 \pm 0.97$	$36.49 \pm 0.57$	$40.24 \pm 1.01$	$37.41 \pm 0.82$	$0.36\pm0.11$	$0.39\pm0.06$
		4	$38.90 \pm 2.08$	$39.17 \pm 1.14$	$39.74 \pm 2.02$	$39.99 \pm 1.03$	$0.38\pm0.02$	$0.49\pm0.03$
	80	1	$80.92 \pm 1.91$	$79.77 \pm 1.48$	$80.58 \pm 1.35$	$80.44 \pm 1.12$	$0.24\pm0.05$	$0.23\pm0.02$
		2	$78.96 \pm 1.95$	$81.01 \pm 1.20$	$79.62 \pm 1.07$	$80.76 \pm 1.09$	$0.43\pm0.08$	$0.36\pm0.07$
		3	$76.86 \pm 0.31$	$80.50\pm0.11$	$78.63 \pm 0.68$	$81.01\pm0.34$	$0.39\pm0.04$	$0.44\pm0.07$
		4	$77.92\pm0.68$	$78.36 \pm 0.46$	$76.62\pm0.59$	$77.67 \pm 0.91$	$0.59\pm0.13$	$0.63\pm0.08$
	160	1	$162.94\pm1.57$	$161.21\pm0.86$	$161.46 \pm 1.28$	$161.12\pm0.71$	$0.20\pm0.07$	$0.21\pm0.04$
		2	$159.61\pm1.57$	$155.50\pm1.25$	$160.81 \pm 1.04$	$157.03 \pm 1.17$	$0.27\pm0.11$	$0.33\pm0.06$
		3	$157.99\pm2.36$	$159.82\pm3.45$	$159.97 \pm 1.98$	$156.49\pm2.53$	$0.31\pm0.09$	$0.29\pm0.06$
		4	$159.25\pm0.21$	$161.23\pm1.34$	$159.72\pm0.51$	$158.51 \pm 1.28$	$0.25\pm0.04$	$0.21\pm0.09$
	320	1	$320.72\pm2.21$	$319.52\pm3.21$	$320.71 \pm 2.17$	$320.84\pm2.63$	$0.72\pm0.02$	$0.86\pm0.05$
		2	$323.95\pm0.22$	$321.25\pm2.83$	$321.47 \pm 0.41$	$321.23\pm3.17$	$0.35\pm0.05$	$0.41\pm0.03$
		3	$319.91\pm0.21$	$317.10\pm0.55$	$319.27 \pm 0.44$	$318.24\pm2.38$	$0.42\pm0.10$	$0.46\pm0.05$
		4	$320.42\pm0.40$	$323.14\pm0.86$	$320.19\pm0.32$	$321.46 \pm 1.52$	$0.41 \pm 0.07$	$0.36\pm0.05$

c)

		wk	tota	l Ni	dissol	ved Ni	DC	DC
Series	NC	#	initial	final	initial	final	initial	final
	0	1	$0.27\pm0.02$	$0.50\pm0.10$	$0.28\pm0.04$	$0.31\pm0.09$	$0.29\pm0.04$	$0.37\pm0.10$
PL		2	$0.26 \pm 0.07$	$0.49 \pm 0.11$	$0.21 \pm 0.03$	$0.36\pm0.05$	$0.39\pm0.06$	$0.44 \pm 0.15$
		3	$0.54\pm0.07$	$0.38\pm0.19$	$0.32\pm0.06$	$0.41 \pm 0.13$	$0.32\pm0.07$	$0.33\pm0.04$
		4	$0.23 \pm 0.03$	$0.50\pm0.04$	$0.23\pm0.02$	$0.46 \pm 0.05$	$0.33\pm0.10$	$0.22\pm0.02$
	0	1	$0.21 \pm 0.04$	$0.24 \pm 0.04$	$0.25\pm0.06$	$0.24 \pm 0.02$	$0.20\pm0.03$	$0.17\pm0.01$
		2	$0.53\pm0.16$	$0.60\pm0.09$	$0.41 \pm 0.13$	$0.50\pm0.07$	$0.31\pm0.06$	$0.30\pm0.04$
		3	$0.29\pm0.06$	$0.11 \pm 0.01$	$0.19\pm0.07$	$0.16 \pm 0.04$	$0.32\pm0.08$	$0.42\pm0.05$
		4	$0.25 \pm 0.03$	$0.32\pm0.04$	$0.26\pm0.01$	$0.22\pm0.06$	$0.53\pm0.12$	$0.30\pm0.02$
	10	1	$12.34\pm0.44$	$12.65\pm0.61$	$11.31\pm0.26$	$11.58 \pm 1.03$	$9.64 \pm 0.31$	$9.34\pm0.42$
		2	$10.66\pm0.10$	$9.98\pm0.20$	$10.29\pm0.09$	$9.86\pm0.78$	$9.10\pm0.31$	$9.63\pm0.10$
		3	$11.05\pm0.17$	$11.37\pm0.34$	$10.05\pm0.12$	$10.34\pm0.37$	$9.68\pm0.76$	$9.05\pm0.15$
		4	$10.59\pm0.40$	$10.75\pm0.34$	$10.36\pm0.28$	$10.57\pm0.29$	$10.04\pm0.31$	$9.59\pm0.47$
	20	1	$19.68 \pm 1.34$	$16.46\pm2.17$	$19.91 \pm 1.75$	$17.69 \pm 2.04$	$9.73\pm0.52$	$9.65\pm0.61$
		2	$21.35\pm0.90$	$20.58 \pm 0.80$	$21.04\pm0.97$	$20.06\pm0.91$	$9.82\pm0.09$	$8.98 \pm 0.25$
		3	$20.47\pm0.07$	$21.22\pm0.92$	$20.42\pm0.11$	$20.23 \pm 1.12$	$9.23\pm0.10$	$9.37\pm0.34$
		4	$23.15\pm0.40$	$21.75 \pm 1.20$	$22.11\pm0.32$	$21.61 \pm 1.67$	$9.10 \pm 1.60$	$9.75\pm0.32$
	40	1	$39.25 \pm 1.80$	$38.10\pm3.54$	$39.15 \pm 1.56$	$37.09 \pm 3.11$	$8.91 \pm 1.30$	$9.31\pm0.26$
		2	$41.00\pm2.74$	$40.12 \pm 1.75$	$40.07\pm2.10$	$40.43 \pm 1.23$	$9.60 \pm 1.45$	$9.29\pm0.79$
		3	$42.66 \pm 1.32$	$42.06\pm0.50$	$41.45 \pm 1.12$	$40.22\pm0.92$	$9.41\pm0.68$	$10.05\pm0.12$
		4	$38.80\pm0.64$	$38.57 \pm 0.74$	$38.70\pm0.60$	$38.88 \pm 0.71$	$9.32\pm0.75$	$9.36\pm0.24$
	80	1	$80.53 \pm 1.13$	$79.33 \pm 2.97$	$80.33 \pm 1.04$	$80.47 \pm 2.55$	$9.12\pm0.75$	$9.58\pm0.83$
		2	$81.93\pm0.51$	$81.44 \pm 1.41$	$81.48\pm0.35$	$81.04 \pm 1.75$	$10.42\pm0.57$	$9.86\pm0.77$
		3	$82.30\pm0.57$	$81.60 \pm 1.96$	$82.17\pm0.66$	$81.34 \pm 1.17$	$9.80\pm0.64$	$9.34\pm0.37$
		4	$81.43 \pm 1.82$	$82.92\pm0.65$	$81.25 \pm 1.44$	$81.27 \pm 1.06$	$9.51 \pm 1.34$	$9.57\pm0.29$
	160	1	$166.57\pm0.49$	$167.06\pm0.51$	$162.89\pm0.88$	$164.15\pm0.83$	$9.44\pm0.77$	$9.31\pm0.69$
		2	$163.99 \pm 1.92$	$163.34\pm1.48$	$163.34 \pm 2.71$	$162.41 \pm 1.97$	$10.04\pm0.\overline{46}$	$9.65\pm0.91$
		3	$162.37 \pm 0.78$	$160.72\pm1.71$	$162.46 \pm 1.07$	$161.27 \pm 1.22$	$9.50\pm0.57$	$9.10\pm0.87$
		4	$16\overline{4.70 \pm 1.67}$	$16\overline{3.37 \pm 1.09}$	$16\overline{1.65 \pm 1.37}$	$16\overline{2.10 \pm 1.14}$	$9.32 \pm 0.99$	$9.32 \pm 0.65$

d)

Samiaa		wk	tota	l Ni	dissol	ved Ni	DC	)C
Series	NC	#	initial	final	initial	final	initial	final
D.	0	1	$0.33\pm0.05$	$0.30\pm0.13$	$0.23\pm0.07$	$0.28\pm0.08$	$0.37\pm0.09$	$0.53\pm0.09$
DL		2	$0.26 \pm 0.08$	$0.37\pm0.09$	$0.21 \pm 0.03$	$0.22 \pm 0.05$	$0.51 \pm 0.10$	$0.72 \pm 0.14$
		3	$0.62 \pm 0.14$	$0.50\pm0.14$	$0.46\pm0.09$	$0.40 \pm 0.11$	$0.45\pm0.08$	$0.13\pm0.02$
		4	$0.30 \pm 0.05$	$0.36\pm0.07$	$0.26\pm0.07$	$0.30\pm0.04$	$0.55 \pm 0.12$	$0.57\pm0.06$
	0	1	$0.21 \pm 0.02$	$0.24\pm0.11$	$0.18 \pm 0.04$	$0.21 \pm 0.10$	$0.48 \pm 0.05$	$0.36\pm0.14$
		2	$0.32\pm0.14$	$0.29\pm0.11$	$0.23\pm0.10$	$0.27\pm0.09$	$0.67\pm0.11$	$0.33\pm0.05$
		3	$0.31\pm0.09$	$0.42\pm0.16$	$0.21\pm0.02$	$0.32\pm0.12$	$0.53\pm0.10$	$0.78\pm0.07$
		4	$0.25\pm0.03$	$0.25\pm0.07$	$0.21\pm0.01$	$0.23\pm0.05$	$0.30\pm0.07$	$0.20\pm0.08$
	10	1	$11.94\pm0.39$	$12.48\pm0.52$	$11.43\pm0.52$	$11.48 \pm 1.04$	$9.13 \pm 1.42$	$8.92\pm0.91$
		2	$11.52\pm0.23$	$11.58\pm0.66$	$11.23\pm0.38$	$10.45\pm0.79$	$9.21\pm0.74$	$8.96\pm0.95$
		3	$12.93 \pm 1.37$	$12.09\pm0.84$	$12.23\pm0.91$	$11.57\pm0.92$	$9.52\pm0.99$	$8.86\pm0.31$
		4	$10.06\pm0.69$	$10.14\pm0.64$	$10.03\pm0.33$	$9.98\pm0.93$	$9.06\pm0.94$	$8.92\pm0.68$
	20	1	$23.66\pm0.68$	$22.07 \pm 1.61$	$21.93 \pm 0.88$	$21.77 \pm 1.25$	$10.15 \pm 1.12$	$9.94 \pm 1.07$
		2	$21.79\pm0.07$	$20.21\pm0.13$	$21.77\pm0.03$	$20.74\pm0.79$	$9.80\pm0.69$	$9.61\pm0.57$
		3	$22.85 \pm 1.29$	$19.25 \pm 1.33$	$22.44 \pm 1.11$	$21.53 \pm 1.11$	$9.31 \pm 1.31$	$8.99 \pm 1.36$
		4	$18.11\pm0.49$	$19.65 \pm 1.48$	$21.16\pm0.62$	$20.54 \pm 1.22$	$9.67 \pm 1.07$	$9.25\pm0.21$
	40	1	$38.46 \pm 1.62$	$36.30 \pm 1.57$	$38.81 \pm 1.48$	$39.02 \pm 1.17$	$10.01\pm0.44$	$9.72 \pm 1.21$
		2	$42.61 \pm 1.94$	$40.87\pm0.80$	$42.11 \pm 1.49$	$40.73\pm0.99$	$9.33\pm0.86$	$8.95\pm0.22$
		3	$40.70\pm0.39$	$41.94\pm0.45$	$40.09\pm0.25$	$41.42\pm0.74$	$9.62 \pm 1.34$	8.91 ± 1.21
		4	$39.98 \pm 2.97$	$41.45 \pm 1.30$	$39.33 \pm 2.02$	$40.31 \pm 1.83$	$9.22\pm0.88$	$9.42\pm0.40$
	80	1	$80.84 \pm 1.62$	$78.10\pm0.66$	$80.46 \pm 1.23$	$79.33 \pm 0.79$	$9.32 \pm 1.01$	$9.07\pm0.61$
		2	$80.13\pm0.84$	$76.89 \pm 0.19$	$80.76\pm0.49$	$78.52\pm0.56$	$9.24\pm0.89$	$9.21\pm0.83$
		3	$79.98 \pm 0.20$	$77.79 \pm 2.28$	$81.55\pm0.76$	$79.94 \pm 2.07$	$10.07\pm0.94$	$9.25 \pm 1.02$
		4	$79.57 \pm 1.75$	$80.81 \pm 1.78$	$79.99 \pm 1.05$	$79.88 \pm 1.42$	$9.44\pm0.98$	$9.65 \pm 1.48$
	160	1	$164.77\pm0.87$	$161.21\pm2.07$	$163.32\pm1.16$	$162.18\pm2.21$	$9.23 \pm 1.22$	$9.30\pm0.57$
		2	$160.75\pm2.98$	$158.15\pm4.54$	$160.89 \pm 1.68$	$159.19\pm3.14$	$9.14\pm0.97$	$8.87\pm0.80$
		3	$160.58\pm0.80$	$161.01\pm2.96$	$160.32\pm0.79$	$161.37 \pm 2.65$	$10.02\pm0.48$	$9.94 \pm 0.45$
		4	$159.34 \pm 1.37$	$158.99 \pm 1.40$	$15\overline{9.84 \pm 1.21}$	$16\overline{0.02 \pm 1.14}$	$9.17\pm0.56$	$9.45 \pm 1.30$



**Figure 3.1.** The protective effects of chronic Ni toxicity when Ca (1 mM), Plastic Lake (PL) DOM and Daisy Lake (DL) DOM are added. DOM was added to a measured concentration of 9 mg DOC/L.  $LC_{50}$  values of 4 series are calculated at day 10 (open) and day 28 (black). Error bars represents 95% CI for  $LC_{50}$  values. An 'a' and 'b' denotes significant difference from Ni exposure (no added modifying factor) at day 10 and day 28, respectively.



**Figure 3.2** – Changes in dry weight, expressed as % dry weight of controls (varying n values since n is based on surviving organisms), at day 28 at Ni concentrations of 0 to 160  $\mu$ g/L (320  $\mu$ g/L not shown since no organisms survived, n = 0). A Ni concentration of 0 is relative the media with additional Ca or DOM. Percentages were calculated from the control in the series without any additional modifying factors; values at 0  $\mu$ g Ni/L represent % reduction in dry weight with just added modifying factor (Table 3.1). Black circles represent the Ni only exposure while grey circles represent the Ni with additional Ca exposure where Ca concentration is 1mM. Plastic Lake is represented by dark inverted triangles and Daisy Lake is represented by light triangles.



**Figure 3.3**. The protective growth effect of additional Ca (1 mM) and 2 DOM sources: Plastic lake (PL) and Daisy Lake (DL) on Ni toxicity in *Hyalella azteca*. DOM was added to a measured concentration of 9 mg DOC/L. Both  $EC_{20}$  and  $EC_{50}$  values were calculated on the basis of survivals and dry weight of organisms. The open bars represent the  $EC_{20}$  value while the black bars represent the  $EC_{50}$  value. No error bars are present due to negligible 95% CI for all values (± 0). An 'a' and 'b' represents significant difference from control (Ni) in  $EC_{20}$  values and  $EC_{50}$  values respectively.



**Figure 3.4**. Bioaccumulation at 28 days of chronic exposure to Ni only (black circles), Ni with additional Ca to 1 mM (open circles) and 2 DOM sources which include Plastic Lake (black inverted triangles) and Daisy Lake (open triangles). DOM was added at a measured concentration of 9 mg DOC/L. Error bars represent standard error. Concentration of Ni at of C represents the control with added Ca, Plastic Lake DOM or Daisy Lake DOM.

### 3.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this study show that Ca as well as DOM reduce the chronic toxicity of Ni to *Hyalella azteca* in both survival and growth. The protective effect of Ca varied with the calculated endpoint, with a 2-fold increase for survival ( $LC_{50}$ ) vs. 8-fold increase for growth ( $EC_{20}$ ). There were differences in protective effects between sources of DOM that were detected through  $LC_{50}$  and  $EC_{20}$  values where Daisy Lake DOM provided a 3-fold increase in protection when compared to Plastic Lake DOM. Because of this, it can be concluded that the source of DOM is important to chronic Ni toxicity with regard to its protective ability. When acute and chronic exposures were compared, a 50-fold difference in protective effects occurred due to the difference in Ni sensitivity between long and short term exposures.

An interesting feature of the experimental results was that Daisy Lake DOM on its own and Ca on its own (no added Ni) resulted in positive and negative impacts (respectively). The addition of Ca at a concentration of 1 mM decreased dry weight and survival and therefore can be hypothesized that Ca may cause detrimental effects to organism physiology that is worthy of further study. The addition of Daisy Lake DOM increased dry weights and therefore appears to offer improvements to growth of organisms. Optical characteristics of DOM appear to be source dependent based on observed protective effects but more sources need to be tested to confirm this observation. Chronic Ni bioaccumulation is not associated with survival or growth inhibition. **Chapter 4** 

**Integrative Biology** 

## 4.1 General conclusions

This study was directed on understanding the role of Ca, Mg and DOM the recovery of aquatic invertebrates in ecosystems damaged by long term smelter emissions. The objective of this research was to determine the role of cationic competition (specifically Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) in the mitigation of acute and chronic Ni toxicity, understand DOM source differences and their capacity to influence the acute and chronic impact of Ni as well as derive relationships between DOM quantity and acute toxicity mitigation to the freshwater invertebrate *Hyalella azteca*. The results are interpreted in the context of the BLM. The approach considered acute and chronic toxicity testing (survival, dry weight and growth), optical characterization of DOM sources (SAC<sub>340</sub>, FI, HA-like and FA-like components – measured and analyzed by Christine Geiger and Kelly Livingstone) and physiological responses (Ni bioaccumulation).

## 4.1.1 Major findings in acute and chronic studies

The major findings of this research for acute studies are as follows:

- 1. Elevated levels of Ca (from 0.1 mM to 2.0 mM) demonstrated significant protection against Ni toxicity while Mg did not.
- The addition of Harp Lake DOM at 6 mg DOC/L and above showed a significant protective effect against Ni toxicity.
- 3. The addition of different sources of DOM (12) at 7 mg DOC/L resulted in varying protective effects on Ni toxicity.
- 4. Unexpectedly, no link was demonstrated between DOM optical characteristics and

observed protective effects.

- 5. Ni bioaccumulation, on the whole body basis, was affected by the addition of DOM at 7 mg DOC/L where a significant decrease in accumulation was observed.
- 6. The modified BLM for Ni and *Hyalella azteca* (from Kozlova et al., 2009) gave reasonable predictions of toxicity although physiology and DOM source differences need to be accounted for.

The major findings of this research for chronic studies are as follows:

- The addition of Ca at 1 mM in exposure showed protective effects against Ni toxicity. A difference in protective effects was observed at different endpoints (growth (8-fold) vs. survival (2-fold)).
- A significant reduction in dry weight (reduced by 50%) was observed with the addition of 1 mM of Ca to exposure. This suggests that Ca at high levels may cause long term detrimental effects.
- 3. The addition of DOM at 9 mg DOC/L showed significant protective effects on Ni toxicity. Different protective effects were observed between sources where Daisy Lake DOM protected 3-times better than Plastic Lake DOM.
- 4. The addition of Daisy Lake DOM in exposure to *Hyalella azteca* resulted in an increase in dry weight by 140%. This suggests that the addition of DOM may aid in the growth of *Hyalella azteca*.
- 5.  $SAC_{340}$  values positively correlated with DOM  $LC_{50}$  values while other optical characteristics did not (FI, humic acid content, fulvic acid content).
- 6. Whole body bioaccumulation in *Hyalella* cannot be linked to growth inhibition.

### 4.1.2 Comparison of acute and chronic exposures

When acute and chronic studies were compared, sensitivity to Ni was shown to be greater in chronic studies. A toxic effect caused by Ni (LC<sub>50</sub>) occurred at an average concentration of 0.7  $\pm$  0.10 mg Ni/L in acute studies (Fig 2.2a) while a concentration of 13.8  $\pm$  2.61 µg Ni/L caused chronic Ni toxicity (Fig 3.1); a 50 – fold difference. Interestingly, the plateau effect observed in acute exposures in the Ca series between 0.75 and 2 mM (Fig 2.2a) correlated with the detrimental effects demonstrated in survival and dry weight when 1 mM Ca added in chronic exposures (Fig 3.1 and Fig 3.2). As suggested by Adams et al. (2010), mechanisms of toxicity may differ between acute and chronic exposures as this explains many differences between acute and chronic exposures. However, no differences were illustrated on the effects of Ca on Ni toxicity between acute and chronic exposures.

In the presence of DOM, Ni toxicity was reduced to a significant degree in both acute and chronic exposures (Fig 2.2b, Fig 2.4, Fig 3.1, Fig 3.3) similar to the acute studies by Kozlova et al. (2009). In our studies, different DOM sources protected against metal toxicity in varying degrees also observed in the study by Richards et al. (2001). Plastic Lake DOM and Daisy Lake DOM produced different results in acute and chronic exposures where Plastic Lake DOM was more protective than Daisy Lake DOM in acute studies while the opposite effect occurred in chronic tests. The protective effects caused by DOM in acute studies could not be correlated to optical characteristics such as  $SAC_{340}$  values, FI, HA-like content and FA-like content (Fig 2.5a – d). The lack of correlation between  $LC_{50}$  values and optical characteristics of DOM is assumed to be caused by windows of measurement that do not overlap; where the amount of Ni that

causes toxicity (mg Ni/L) is different than the concentration of Ni-DOM binding ( $\mu$ g Ni/L) resulting in an invalid comparison (Town and Filella, 2002). When lower concentrations of Ni were used in chronic studies, a correlation with absorbance (i.e., SAC<sub>340</sub>) and degree of toxic impacts was present, while other characteristics could not be linked to protective effects.

Bioaccumulation patterns differed between acute and chronic studies. Metal accumulation decreased in the presence of DOM in acute studies (Fig 2.4) while no significant difference occurred in chronic studies with the addition of any toxicity modifying factor (Ca, Daisy Lake DOM, Plastic Lake DOM; Fig 3.4). Metal bioaccumulation is suggested as a better indicator of toxicity than metals in water or sediment exposure (Borgmann et al., 1991, 1998, 2001). The differences between the two studies may be explained by whole body bioaccumulation. Metal bioaccumulation is dependent on the length and conditions of exposure due to the dynamic nature of metal uptake (Adams et al., 2010). The ability of an organism to detoxify and store metals (i.e., dynamic nature) can lead to the misuse of whole body bioaccumulation. If Hyalella have this ability, the difference between exposures could be explained where the accumulation of metal cannot be linked to a toxic effect since a significant portion of the metal burden will be in the detoxified form (Adams et al., 2010). To further this research, sub-cellular analysis should become part of the digestion and analysis protocol to determine if *Hyalella azteca* has this ability to detoxify and store metals. This will lead to a better understanding of metal bioaccumulation and its relationship to observed toxic effects.

### 4.2 Integrative aspects and significance

This project is part of a larger research effort, Terrestrial and Aquatic Linkages for

Ecosystem Recovery (TALER) research initiative, to understand and aid in the recovery processes of lakes in the Sudbury area. The TALER research initiative is an extension of the Greater City of Sudbury 'Official Plan' for environmental risk assessment (also known as the Sudbury Soils Study). The original plan involved the testing of sediments only. In addition to the plan, the TALER project set out to analyze water chemistry, active changes in lake water, and its effects on the ecosystem. Many aspects of these lakes were examined including upland and riparian vegetation, organism re-colonization, and toxicity testing with metal contaminants (i.e., Cu and Ni) on different organisms (i.e., *Daphnia* and *Hyalella*). Understanding these processes as well as their significance will lead to an improvement on recovery processes of aquatic biota and ecosystems. In general, the TALER project collects information for the development of an improved practice in land and water management and to care for water bodies in the Sudbury area in the context of climate change and local conditions.

The focus of these projects is to understand the overall functions of wetlands and natural environmental treatment systems. Many projects within TALER analyze the composition of DOM, the protective abilities of DOM, the characteristics of DOM, and its possible role in organism/ecosystem recovery. Research related to vegetation in the upland, riparian, and peatland areas surrounding the study lakes and how they influence the quality of DOM (Szkokan-Emilson et al., personal communication) helps us gain a better understanding of the various protective effects of DOM. Also, guiding the restoration processes by determining how acid- and metal- sensitive populations of *Hyalella* respond to characteristics in sub-catchment areas informs us that varying characteristics of water chemistry may alter recovery responses (Kielstra et al., personal communication).

From the research initiative, projects that correlate most with our study are: the effects of

88

DOM on Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* (Livingstone et al., awaiting publishing) and the effects of DOM on nickel to a local daphnia hybrid (Geiger et al., awaiting publishing). The same set of DOM source concentrates were used in the 3 studies (Livingstone et al., Geiger et al., and this study) therefore they can be directly compared between metals (i.e., Cu and Ni) and organisms (i.e., *Daphnia* and *Hyalella*). Characterizations for these DOM sources were analyzed and an integration of data occurred between these projects. Absorbance (SAC<sub>340</sub>) values were measured by C. Geiger (York University, ON) and fluorescence measures through EEMS and PARAFAC (FI, HA-like and FA-like) were measured by K. Livingstone (Wilfrid Laurier University, ON).

The integration of these research projects should provide useful insights in guiding restoration practices. More specifically, information from this study may help the development or improvement of regulations and policies since results observed may be beneficial to the official plans in the city of Sudbury as well as enhance modelling parameters used for risk assessments. Improving our understanding of the influence of cations, DOM quantity as well as quality on toxicity of metals can facilitate the decrease of harmful effects in aquatic ecosystems, now and in the future. Along with the collaborations within TALER, this research is highly integrative due to its approach which includes a combination of laboratory work (i.e., toxicity testing, DOM characterizations, analysis), field work (i.e., amphipod and DOM collections), biological testing (toxicity testing and physiological responses) and chemical techniques (optical characterization of DOM sources) which were used to analyze differences between DOM sources.

# **Compiled References**

- Abbt-Braun, G., Lankes, U., Frimmel, F. H. 2004. Structural characterization of aquatic humic substances the need for a multiple method approach. Aquat. Sci. 66: 151-170
- Adams, W. J., Blust, R., Borgmann, U., Brix, K. V., DeForest, D. K., Green, A. S., Meyer, J. S., McGeer, J. C., Paquin, P. R., Rainbow, P. S., Wood, C. M. 2010. Utility of tissue residues for predicting effects of metals on aquatic organisms. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management, 7(1):, 75-98.
- Al-Reasi, H. A., Smith. D. S., Wood, C. M. 2012. Evaluating the ameliorative effect of natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) quality on copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*: improving the BLM. Ecotoxicology. 21: 524-537.
- Al-Reasi, H. A., Wood, C. M., Smith, D. S. 2011. Physicochemical and spectroscopic properties of natural organic matter (NOM) from various sources and implications for ameliorative effects on metal toxicity to aquatic biota. Aquatic Toxicology. 103: 179-190
- Blockwell, S. J., Maund, S. J., Pascoe, D. 1999. Effects of the organochlorine insecticide lindane
   (y-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub>CL<sub>6</sub>) on the population responses of the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*.
   Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 18: 1264-1269.
- Borgmann, U., Norwood, W. P., Babirad, I. M. 1991. Relationship between chronic toxicity and bioaccumulation of cadmium in *Hyalella azteca*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48: 1055-1060.
- Borgmann, U. 1996. Systematic analysis of aqueous ion requirements of *Hyalella azteca*: a standard artificial medium including the essential bromide ion. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30: 356-363.
- Borgmann, U., Norwood, W. P. 1997. Identification of the toxic agent in metal-contaminated sediments from Manitouwadge Lake, Ontario, using toxicity-accumulation relationships in *Hyalella azteca*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 1055-1063.

- Borgmann, U. 1998. A mechanistic model of copper accumulation in *Hyalella azteca*. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 137-145.
- Borgmann, U., Cheam, V., Norwood, W. P., Lechner, J. 1998. Toxicity and bioaccumulation of thallium in *Hyalella azteca*, with comparison to other metals and prediction of environmental impact. Environmental Pollution. 99: 105-114.
- Borgmann, U., Neron, R., Norwood, W. P. 2001. Quantification of bioavailable nickel in sediments and toxic thresholds to *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Pollution. 111: 189-198.
- Buffle, J. 1988. Complexation Reactions in Aquatic Systems: An Analytical Approach. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, USA.
- Cameron, J. N., Wood, C. M. 1985. Apparent H+ excretion and CO2 dynamics accompanying carapace mineralization in the blue-crab (*Callinectes-sapidus*) following molting. Jour. Exp. Biol. 114:181-196
- Clifford, M., McGeer, J. C. 2008. Development of a biotic ligand model for the acute toxicity of zinc to *Daphnia pulex* in soft waters. Aquatic Toxicology. 91: 26-32.
- Clifford, M., McGeer, J.C. 2010. Development of a biotic ligand model to predict the acute toxicity of cadmium to *Daphnia pulex*. Aquatic Toxicology. 98: 1-7.
- Coleman, R. E. 2001. Metastatic bone disease: clinical features, pathophysiology and treatment strategies. Cancer Treatment Reviews. 27: 165-176.
- Costa, M. 1991. Molecular mechanisms of nickel carcinogenesis. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 31: 321-337
- Curtis, P. J., Schindler, D. W. 1997. Hydrologic control of dissolved organic matter in low-order Precambrian Shield Lakes. Biogeochem. 36: 125-138.
- David, S.M., Somers, K.M., Reid, R.A., Ingram, R. 1997. Crayfish species assemblages in soft

water lakes in seven tertiary watersheds in south-central Ontario. Ontario Ministry of Environment and Energy Report, ISBN 0-7778-6504-1. Pp100.

- De Schamphelaere, K. A. C., Janssen, C. R. 2002. A biotic ligand model predicting acute copper toxicity for *Daphnia magna*; the effects of calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium, and pH. Env. Sci. Technol. 36: 48-54
- De Schamphelaere, K. A. C., Janssen, C. R. 2004. Effects of dissolved organic carbon concentration and source, pH and water hardness on chronic toxicity of copper to *Daphnia magna*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 23(5): 1115-1122.
- Deleebeeck, N.M.E., De Schamphelaere, K.A.C., Heijerick, D.G., Bossuyt, B.T.A., Janssen, C.R. 2008. The acute toxicity of nickel to *Daphnia magna*: predictive capacity of bioavailability models in artificial and natural waters. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 70: 67–78.
- Deleebeeck, N.M.E., Muyssen, B.T.A., De Laender, F., Jassen, C.R., De Schamphelaere, K.A.C. 2007. Comparison of nickel toxicity to cladocerans in soft versus hard surface waters. Aquatic Toxicology. 84: 223-235.
- Di Toro, D. M., Allen, H. E., Bergman, H. L., Meyer, J. S., Paquin, P. R., Santore, R. C. 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. 1. Technical basis. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20(10): 2383-2396.
- Eimers, M. C., Watmough, S. A., Buttle, J. M., Dillon, P. J. 2007. Drought-induced sulfate release from a wetland in south-central Ontario. Environ Monit Assess. 127: 399-407.
- Eisler, R. 1998. Nickel hazards to fish, wildlife, and invertebrates: a synoptic review; U.S. Geological Survey, Biological Resources Division, Biological Science Report 1998-0001.
- Environment Canada. 1997. Biological test method: test for survival and growth in sediment using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. EPS1/RM/33. 141.

- Gheorghiu, C., Smith, D. S., Al-Reasi, H. A., McGeer, J. C., Wilkie, M. P. 2010 Influence of natural organic matter (NOM) quality on Cu-gill binding in the ranbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic Toxicology. 97: 343-352.
- Gillis, P. L., McGeer, J. C., Mackie, G. L., Wilkie, M. P., Ackerman, J. D. 2010. The effect of natural dissolved organic carbon on the acute toxicity of copper to larval freshwater mussels (Glochidia). Environ. Tox. Chem. 29(11): 2519-2528.
- Gonzalez, E. R., Watling, L. 2002. Redescription of *Hyalella azteca* from its type locality, Vera Cruz, Mexico (Amphipoda: Hyalellidae). Journal of Crustacean Biology. 22: 173-183.
- Guthrie, J. W., Mandal, R., Salam, M. S. A., Hassan, N. M., Murimboh, J., Chakrabarti, C. L., Back, M. H., Gregoire, D. C. 2003. Kinetic studies of nickel speciation in model solutions of a well-characterized humic acid using the competing ligand exchange method. Anal. Chim. Acta. 480: 157-169.
- Hargrave, B. T. 1970. The utilization of benthic microflora by *Hyalella azteca* (Amphipoda). Journal of Animal Ecology. 39(2): 427-437.
- Heijerick, D., De Schamphelaere, K., Van Sprang, P., Janssen, C. 2005. Development of a chronic zinc biotic ligand model for *Daphnia magna*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 62: 1–10.
- Hoang, T. C., Tomasso, J. R., Klaine, S. J. 2004. Influence of water quality and age on nickel toxicity to fathead minnow(*Pimephales promelas*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 23: 86–92.
- Hogstrand, C., Wood, C. M. 1996. The physiology and toxicology of zinc in fish. In: Taylor, E.
  W. (Ed.), Toxicology of aquatic pollution: physiological, cellular and molecular approaches, Society of experimental biology, seminar series: 57. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 61-85

- Ingersoll, G. C., Brunson, E. L., Dwyer, F. J., Hardesty, D. K., Kemble, N. E. 1998. Use of sublethal endpoints in sediment toxicity tests with the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Chemistry. 17(8): 1508-1523.
- Keithly, J., Brooker, J. A., DeForest, D. K., Wu, B. K., Brix, K. V. 2004. Acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to a cladoceran (*Ceriodaphnia dubia*) and an amphipod (*Hyalella azteca*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23(3): 691-696.
- Keller, W. 1992. Introduction and overview to aquatic acidification studies in the Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, area. Science. 49 (Suppl. 1): 3-7
- Keller, W., Pitblado, R., Carbone, I. 1992. Chemical responses of acidic lakes in the Sudbury, Ontario, area to reduced smelter emissions, 1981-89. Can. j. Fish. Aquat. Sci,. 49 (Suppl. 1): 25-32.
- Keller, W., Yan, N. D., Gunn, J. M., Heneberry, J. 2007. Recovery of acidified lakes: lessons from Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. Water Air Soil Pollut: Focus. 7: 317-322.
- Keller, W., Heneberry, J., Gunn, J. M., Snucins, E., Morgan, G., Leduc, J. 2004. Recovery of acid and metal damaged lakes near Sudbury Ontario: trends and status. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology Unit, Department of Biology, Laurentian University, Sudbury, ON. (Prepared for the SARA group, supporting report for the Ecological Risk Assessment, Sudbury Soils Study)
- Kinniburgh, D. G., Milne, C. J., Benedetti, M. F., Pinheiro, J. P., Filius, J., Koopal, L. K., and Van Riensdijk, W. H. 1996. Metal ion binding by humic acid: application of the NICA-Donnan model. Environmental Science Technology. 30: 1687-1698.
- Kozlova, T., Wood, C. M., McGeer, J. C. 2009. The effect of water chemistry on the acute toxicity of nickel to the cladoceran *Daphnia pulex* and the development of a biotic ligand

model. Aquatic Toxicology. 91: 221-228.

- Landre, A. L., Watmough, S. A., Dillon, P. J. 2009. The effects of dissolved organic carbon, acidity and seasonality on metal geochemistry within a forested catchment on the Precambrian shield, central Ontario, Canada. Biogeochemistry. 93: 271-289.
- Litchfield, J. T, Wilcoxon, F. 1938 A simplified method of evaluating dose-effective experiments. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 96: 99-113.
- Livens, R.F. 1991. Chemical reactions of metals with humic material. Environ. Pollut. 70: 183–208.
- McGeer, J. C., Clifford, M., Janssen, C. R., De Schamphelaere, K. A. C. 2010. Modeling the toxicity of metals to aquatic biota using the biotic ligand approach. Essential reviews in experimental biology. 2: 205-231.
- McGeer, J. C., Playle, R. C., Wood, C. M., Galvez, F. 2000. A physiologically based biotic ligand model for predicting the acute toxicity of waterborne silver to rainbow trout in freshwaters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34: 4199-4207.
- McKnight, D. M., Feder, G. L., Thurman, E. M., Wershaw, R. L., Westall, J. C. 1983. Complexation of copper by aquatic humic substances from different environments. Sci. Total Environ. 28: 65–76.
- McKnight, D. M., Boyer, E. W., Westerhoff, P. K., Doran, P. T., Kulbe, T., Anderson, D. T. 2001. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic materials and aromaticity. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46: 38-48
- McKnight, D. M., Aiken, G. 1998. Sources and age of aquatic humus: In Hessen, D. O., Travic L.J. (Eds) Aquatic humic substances: ecology and biochemistry. Vol. 133. Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Germany.

- Meyer, J.S., Santore, R.C., Bobbitt, J.P., DeBrey, L.D., Boese, C.J., Paquin, P.R., Allen, H.E., Bergman, H.L., Di Toro, D.M. 1999. Binding of nickel and copper to fish gills predicts toxicity when water hardness varies, but free ion activity does not. Environ. Sci. Technol. 33: 913–916.
- Morel, F. M. M., Hering, J. G. 1993. Principles and Applications of Aquatic Chemistry, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 588.
- Nebeker, A. V., Miller, C. E. 1988. Use of the amphipod crustacean *Hyalella azteca* in freshwater and estuarine sediment toxicity tests. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 7: 1027-1033.
- Neumann, P. T. M., Borgmann, U., Norwood, W. 1999. Effect of gut clearance on metal body concentrations in *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 18(5): 976-984.
- Othman, M. S., Pascoe, D. 2001. Growth, development and reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure, 1858) in laboratory culture. Crustaceana 74(2): 171-181.
- Pagenkopf, G. K. 1983. Gill surface interaction model for trace-metal toxicity to fishes: Role of complexation , pH, and water hardness. Enviro. Sci. Technol. 17 (6): 342-347
- Pane, E. F., Haque, A., Wood, C. M. 2004. Mechanistic analysis of acute, Ni-induced respiratory toxicity in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): an exclusively branchial phenomenon. Aquatic Toxiciology. 69: 11-24
- Pane, E.F., Smith, C., McGeer, J.C., Wood, C.M. 2003a. Mechanisms of acute and chronic waterborne nickel toxicity in the freshwater cladoceran, *Daphnia magna*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37: 4382–4389.

Pane, E. F., Richards, J. G., Wood, C. M. 2003b. Acute waterborne nickel toxicity in the rainbow
trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) occurs by a respiratory rather than ionoregulatory mechanism. Aquatic Toxicology. 63: 65-82

- Pennak, R. W. 1953. Fresh-water invertebrates of the United States. Ronald Press Co., New York. 435-446.
- Puttaswamy, N., Liber, K. 2012. Influence of inorganic anions on metals release from oil sands coke and on toxicity of nickel and vanadium to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Chemosphere. 86: 521 -529
- Richards, J. G., Curtis, P. J., Burnison, B. K., Playle, R. C. 2001. Effects of natural organic matter source on reducing metal toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and on metal binding to their gills. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 1159-1166.
- Ryan, A. C., VanGenderen, E. J., Tomasso, J. R., Klaine, S. J. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on copper toxicity to larval fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*): implications for the biotic ligand model. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 23: 1567-1574
- Santore, R. C., Rooni, M., Paquin, P. R., DiToro, D. 2002. Application of the biotic ligand model to predicting zinc toxicity to rainbow trout, fathead minnow, and *Daphnia magna*.
  Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C. 133: 271-285
- Schiff, S. L., Aravena, R., Trumbore, S. E., Dillon, P. J. 1990. Dissolved organic carbon cycling in forested watersheds: a carbon isotope approach. Water Resour. Res. 26: 2949 2957
- Schroeder, J. E., Borgmann, U., Dixon, D. G. 2010. Evaluation of the biotic ligand model to predict long-term toxicity of Nickel to *Hyalella azteca*. Environ. Tox. And Chem. 29(11): 2498-2504

Schubauer-Berigan, M. K., Dierkes, J. R., Monson, P. D., Ankley, G. T. 1993. pH dependent toxicity of Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn to *Cerioaphnia dubia, Pimephales promelas, Hyalella azteca* 

and Lumbriculus variegates. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 1261–1266.

- Schwartz, M.L., Curtis, P.J., Playle, R.C. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on acute copper, lead and cadmium toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 23: 2889–2899.
- Schwartz, M. L., Vigneault, B. 2007. Development and validation of a chronic copper biotic ligand model for *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Aquatic Toxicology. 84: 247 – 254
- Smith, D. S., Kramer, J. R. 1999. Fluorescence analysis for multi-site aluminum binding to natural organic matter. Environ. Int. 25: 295-306
- Stedmon, C.A., Markager, S. 2005. Resolving the variability in dissolved organic matter fluorescence in a temperate estuary and its catchment using PARAFAC analysis. Limnol. Oceanogr. 50: 686-697
- Stokes, P. 1984. Case 7.2 Clearwater Lake: Study of an acidified lake ecosystem. Effects of Pollutants at the Ecosystem Level. SCOPE. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Sunderman, F. W. Jr. 1989. Mechanistic aspects of nickel carcinogenicity. Archives of toxicology. 13: 40-47
- Thurman, E. M. 1985. Organic geochemistry of natural waters. Kluwe Academic, Boston, MA, USA.
- Town, R. M., Filella, M. 2002 Crucial role of the detection window in metal ion speciation analysis in aquatic systems: the interplay of thermodynamic and kinetic factors as exemplified by nickel and cobolt. Analytica Chimica Acta. 466: 285-293.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 1986. Quality criteria for water. US EPA Office of water regulations and standards, Washington, DC. EPA 440/5-85-001

VanGenderen, E. J., Ryan, A. C., Tomasso, J. R., Klaine, S. J. 2003. Influence of dissolved

organic matter source on silver toxicity to *Pimephales promelas*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22: 2746-2751

- Watmough, S. A., Aherne, J., Eimers, M. C., Dillon, P. J. 2007. Acidification at Plastic Lake, Ontario: has 20 years made a difference? Water Air Soil Pollut Focus. 7: 301-306.
- Weast, R. C. (Ed.) 1973. Handbook of chemistry and physic, 54<sup>th</sup> ed. CRC Press, Cleveland, OH, USA
- Wetzel, R. G. 2001. Limnology of lakes and river ecosystems. Third edition. Academic press. San Diego, California, USA.
- Winter, A. R., Fish, T. A. E., Playle, R. C., Smith, C. D., Curtis, J. P. 2007. Photodegradation of natural organic matter from diverse freshwater sources. Aquat. Toxicol. 84: 215-222.
- Wood, C. M., Al-Reasi, H. A., Smith, D. S. 2011. The two faces of DOC. Aquatic Toxicology. 105S: 3-8.
- Wu, K. B., Paquin, P. R., Navab, V., Mathew, R., Santore, R. C., Di Toro, D. M. 2003.Development of a biotic ligand model for nickel: phase I.Water Environment Research Foundation, report 01-ECO-10T.
- Yan, N. D., Keller, W., Somers, K. M., Pawson, T. W., Girard, R. G. 1996. Recovery of crustacean zooplankton communities from acid and metal contamination: comparing manipulated and reference lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 1301-1327
- Zhou, P., Yan, H., Gu, B. 2005. Competitive complexation of metal ions with humic substances. Chemosphere. 58: 1327-1337.